

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

United States-Mexico Dual Resident's Perceptions of Heritage and Acculturation

Alisia N. Muir Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Policy Commons, Quantitative, Qualitative, Comparative, and Historical Methodologies Commons, and the Social and Cultural Anthropology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Alisia N. Muir

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Christopher Jones, Committee Chairperson,
Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Ernesto Escobedo Jr., Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Lydia Forsythe, University Reviewer, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

United States-Mexico Dual Resident's Perceptions of Heritage and Acculturation

by

Alisia N. Muir

MEd, Coppin State University, 1998

BA, University of Maryland Baltimore County, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

November 2018

Abstract

United States' policy makers have been challenged creating understandable nutrition labels and effective healthy food campaigns for consumers of mixed heritage. Previous studies explored the sociocultural factors that influence Hispanics' abilities to navigate consumer food education programs, but little was known about how Mexican culture impacts those programs. The purpose of this study was to better understand those factors. Research questions focused on the experiences of residents of a west Texas town regarding their food decision-making process about food choices and their understanding of food education information. The purpose of this phenomenological research was to explore how Mexican culture effected navigation through these programs. I used the theory of dietary acculturation, environmental theory, and advocacy coalition framework as the lenses to view this phenomenon. Data were generated from 9 interviews with primary decision makers concerning food choices for their households. Interview data were open coded to obtain themes suggested by study participants. Results indicated that participants considered healthy food and used varying approaches when selecting healthy food. Family time was an important factor in food choice. Healthy foods messages came from personal physicians, local marketing, and government agencies. The quality and cost of American products were often a consideration. Participants indicated that access to current health information and Mexican food products are integral to making future healthy food choices. The implications for positive social change may include raising awareness among state and federal policy makers of the factors influencing healthy food choices in effective nutrition labeling and healthy food education programs.

United States-Mexico Dual Resident's Perceptions of Heritage and Acculturation

by

Alisia N. Muir

MEd, Coppin State University, 1998

BA, University of Maryland Baltimore County, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

November 2018

Dedication

It is because of God that I am. Without the models of determination, perseverance, and faith given to me by my parents, Lloyd and Novia, this dissertation would not be possible. My life is the daily application of ideas and constructs. They are: grace (compassion) and love (despite, instead of, even though, or just because). From the generation before me: education gives you the world. To the generations to come: education gives you options. Alex, Apple, you got next ma'am!

Para las mariposas de PIBH, Canutillo y El Paso: la oportunidad a sido asombrosa. Tus experiencias trajeron mis sueños a buen término. Gracias.

Acknowledgments

Thank you Dr. Christopher Jones, for your encouragement, honesty, and continuous advice to breathe has sustained me during this journey. Thank you Dr. Ernesto Escobedo for your interest in my topic and then wanting to be a part of my committee. El Paso por vida.

Special thanks to: Jessica Angelo-Devoy, Julie Conzelmann, Christopher E. Everett, Pedro Galaviz, Ervin Garcia, Christine King-Miller, Sandra Lopez, Miguel A. Martinez, Peter "Pete" & Beverly "Bev" Richardson, Arturo Vasquez, and Nicole Williams-Dixon. Throughout my life, I have been blessed to have met people who enriched my life and added to my purpose; each of you are one of those persons. Your comments, insights, and support of me as a student and a person has been amazing and humbling. I thank each of you for playing an important role in this journey. I am indebted to you for your words of encouragement and your unconditional belief that I could do this.

Let the current lift your heart
And send it soaring
Write the timeless message clear across the sky
So that all of us can read it
And remember when we need it
That a dream conceived in truth can never die
Butterfly

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	4
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Questions	7
Theoretical Framework of Study	7
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	11
Assumptions	11
Scope and Delimitations	12
Limitations	12
Significance	13
Summary	13
Chapter 2: Literature Review.	15
Library Databases and Search Engines	16
List of Key Search Terms	16
Theoretical Foundation	17
APA Dietary Acculturation Model (DAM)	18
Analysis of DAM Application in the Literature	19
Berry's Environmental Theory	20
Analysis of Environmental Theory's Application in Literature	22

Advocacy Coalition Framework	22
Analysis of ACFs Application in the Literature	23
Phenomenological Studies	26
Qualitative Studies	27
Needs Assessment for Consumer Food Programs	29
Federal Consumer Food Education Programs	31
Consumer Interest in Nutrition and Healthy Easting	34
Sociocultural Factors that Impact Food Choice	35
Acculturation and Psychological Considerations	37
Impact of Dietary Acculturation on Dietary Choices of Immigrants	39
Health Literacy	40
Perceptions of Health Care & Patient Education	41
Federal Policy Initiatives and Consumer Education Programs	43
Summary	45
Chapter 3: Methodology	46
Introduction	46
Research Methodology	47
Research Questions	48
Qualitative Interviews	49
Participant Selection.	50
Data Collection	54
Data Management and Analysis	55

	Validity and Reliability	55
	Summary	56
Cł	hapter 4: Results	58
	Introduction	58
	Process for Credibility	65
	Evidence of Transferability	65
	Process for Dependability	65
	Process for Confirmability	66
	Household & Personal Schedule	68
	School and Coursework	70
	Professionals	70
	Personal Physicians	71
	Government Agencies	71
	Community Health Classes	72
	Television and Social Media	72
	Family, Friends, Farmers Markets, Store Trends	73
	Budget	75
	Food Choices and Nutrition	76
	Quality	78
	Quality of Meat Products	79
	Locating Mexican Products	80
	Access to current information	81

	Summary	82
Cł	hapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	86
	Introduction	86
	Summary of Findings	87
	Interpretation of Findings	88
	Demographic	88
	Family Time	89
	Food Choice and Nutrition	89
	Social Influences	90
	Media	91
	Government Agencies and Health Professionals	91
	Access to Quality Food (Meat)	92
	Mexican Food Staples/Budget	92
	Access to Information	93
	Theoretical Framework	93
	APA Dietary Acculturation Model (DAM)	93
	Berry's Environmental Theory (ET)	94
	Advocacy Coalition Framework	94
	Limitations of the Study	95
	Recommendations	95
	Implications for Social Change	97
	Researcher's Experience	97

Conclusion	98
References	100
Appendix A: Interview Question Guide	126
Apéndice B: Guía de Preguntas de la Entrevista	129
Appendix C: Pre-Screen & Demographic Questions	132
Appendix D: Pre-Selección y Preguntas Demográficas	133

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Obesity is a health epidemic impacting millions of residents in the United States and has increased healthcare costs. Data estimates from the years 2009-2010 revealed that approximately 78 million adults and 12.5 million children were obese and associated health care costs were nearly \$147 billion (Roberson et al., 2014). The consequences of obesity affect certain communities in greater numbers. Obesity affects Hispanics adults more than White and Asian adults (Ogden, Carroll, Fryar, & Flegal, 2015), which makes monitoring the prevalence of obesity in these populations critical for public health programs. Public health programs addressing obesity include consumer food education programs (Ogden et al., 2015).

Food consumption is not only a necessity for humans, but also a part of the social fabric in many cultures. Consumers are interested in their health and eating nutritiously (Waterlander, Steenhuis, de Boer, Schuit, & Seidell, 2012) and, even though healthy food items come at a higher cost, people are willing to pay extra to get good food (Aggarwal, Monsivais, Cook, & Drewnowski, 2014). Many things influence what a person chooses to eat, including sociocultural realities that impact an individual's ability to access and eat healthy foods (Cruwys, Bevelander, & Hermans, 2015). Sociocultural factors include race, ethnicity, economic status, food convenience, and education (Florez, Dubowitz, Saito, & Breslau, 2012; Leonard, McKillop, Carson, & Shuval, 2014). Immigrant groups are disproportionately affected by sociocultural factors that negatively influence access to healthy foods (Aggarwal et al., 2014). The lack of access results in Hispanic populations

disproportionately suffering from negative health outcomes associated with limited access to healthy food options.

People who immigrate to a new country experience an acclimation process called acculturation. The acculturation process is the cultural modification of an individual (Perez, 2014), and presents unique challenges for an immigrant. The challenges associated with acculturation include psychological and environmental considerations that occur when individuals from different cultures encounter each other (Howarth, Wagnar, Magnusson, & Sammut, 2014; Satia, 2010). These factors affect an immigrant's perception of the quality of support received regarding health-related topics, and impacting dietary choices (Castellanos, 2015; Jay et al., 2014).

People develop eating practices based not only on learned social factors, but also on advertising and information provided by educational outlets and media programming. To have the most impact, a consumer education program should be sound. A sound consumer food education program promotes appealing food that is nutritionally sound and considerate of consumers' cultures (Kaushal, Waldfogel, & Wight, 2013). The United States government has various consumer education programs. The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), and its programs, including the Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion (CNPP), the Food and Nutrition Service (FNS), and the Faith-Based and Neighborhood Partnerships (FBNP), are responsible for disseminating literature on foods and healthy eating (USDA, 2016). These agencies also have the capacity to identify consumers that would most benefit from customized consumer food education programs (Byker & Smith, 2014; Greves-Grow, Cook, Arterburn, Saelens, &

Drewnowski 2010; Nau et al., 2015). One critic of these agencies has concluded that current consumer food education programs have sent conflicting messages and need restructuring to include clearly defined definitions of *healthy* or *nutritious* foods (Nagler, 2015). One proposed solution is to collaborate with state and local officials who understand how the food system works in their communities and can be reliable, trusted advisers to policymakers when policy changes occur (Fitzgerald & Wolak, 2016). Better collaboration between all levels of government can lessen the chance that the public misunderstands disseminated information.

Eating is an essential part of a person's social construct and choosing what foods to eat is a part of that social construct. According to researchers, consumers need empowerment when they make food selections (Kaushal et al., 2013). A sound program enables consumers to access educational programs, therefore allowing individuals to advocate for and make healthy food choices that are meaningful in the scope of their lives. Grin, Gayle, Saravia, and Sanders (2013), Kaushal, Waldfogel, and Wight (2013), and Leung et al. (2013) concluded that the USDA recognized gaps in its consumer food education programming for immigrant populations and proposed several policy initiatives through federal programs, such as Women, Infants and Children (WIC) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP). These gaps do indicate that further study is needed to understand why these gaps exist and what remedies are necessary to close them.

In this study, I focused on the decision-making process that consumers of

Mexican descent use to make food selections. I evaluated their decision-making process

by asking how they chose food to eat and how they used consumer education programs to makes those decisions. I included both men and women of Mexican heritage are residents of the United States, but also lived Mexico at least 3 months in a calendar year. A detailed discussion of literature associated with mixed heritage and dual residence consumer decision-making and food choice is discussed in Chapter 2.

Background

Several factors determine a community's viability. The health of a community is tied to its ability for individuals and households to access social and economic resources through civic engagement and collaboration (Nunez-McHiri, Riviera & Marrufo, 2017). Ensuring that consumers have access to nutritious food is one means by which policy makers can stave off the cultural and economic impact of disease (Leung et al., 2013). Policy makers have had little success applying national cultural differences, such as national food staples, in the food and nutrition dietary recommendations to U.S. consumers of Mexican descent (USDA, 2016). The purpose of this qualitative study was to understand the socio-cultural factors that influence the residents of Canutillo, Texas, and their ability to navigate consumer food education programs. Previous have established the current body of knowledge pertaining to acculturation and consumer food education programs. The current body of literature exposes unanswered questions about acculturation and consumer food education programs on specific nationalities within the Hispanic community.

Current health data and statistics have identified policy makers' inabilities to articulate food and nutrition dietary recommendations to their U.S. consumers of

Mexican descent. Some researchers have examined the effect and impact of psychosocial and sociocultural factors, such as acculturation and cultural differences (Union of Concerned Scientists [UCS], 2016). This focus highlighted that little research exists that is related to U.S. consumers of Mexican descents' perceptions of U.S. food education programs.

Problem Statement

Policy makers in the United States have a problem implementing policy that imparts sufficient understanding of generalized nutrition labels to consumers, and specifically consumers of mixed heritage. Many of the residents of Canutillo, Texas, have the shared experience of the Mexican heritage, mutual migration, and dual residence. Specific to consumers of Mexican descent, culture interfered with understanding nutritional information, such as nutrient value and portion size (Castellanos, 2015). Consumers, specifically of Mexican descent, may need resources that would assist with understanding nutritional information. Evidence showed that Hispanics often have trouble accessing information on nutrition and healthy eating because they have difficulty accessing and navigating consumer food education information provided by US Dietary Guidelines and the myFood Pyramid (Gerchow et al., 2014) and the unique cultural differences may be a contributing factor. Policy makers have had little success in applying national cultural differences, such as national food staples, in the food and nutrition decision-making guides provided to Hispanic consumer groups (USDA, 2010). The failure of policy makers to provide adequate and culturally appropriate information to Hispanic consumer groups has caused problems worthy of study.

Research findings highlighted the correlation between socioeconomic status, education levels, racial and ethnic factors, and low-quality diets, which contribute to unfavorable health outcomes (Aggarwal et al., 2014; Guenther et al., 2014). While research explored the sociocultural factors that influence Hispanics' abilities to navigate consumer food education programs (Gordon-Larsen, Harris, Ward & Popkin, 2003), little was known specifically about how Mexican culture has an impact on the navigation through those programs. Policy needed to include other types of evidence in order to address factors that contribute to the problem (Cobb et al., 2015). A qualitative study to evaluate consumer food education in Canutillo, Texas, helped fill in this gap and provide an opportunity to measure how shared experiences, Mexican heritage, acculturation, and dual residence affected food education outcomes. Favorable health outcomes are strengthened by the access and navigation this sociocultural group has to consumer food education programs.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to understand the sociocultural factors influencing the Canutillo, Texas, residents' abilities to navigate consumer food education programs. Specifically, the focus of this study is to (a) identify the assumptions Hispanic consumers of Mexican decent have about the American nutrition and education program; (b) explore how the assumptions are validated; (c) examine peoples' particular experiences with U.S food culture, specifically the consumer experience; and (d) identify specific interventions that could help to inform future consumer food education programs specifically tailored to meet the needs of lived experiences of dual residents.

Research Questions

Main Question: What were the lived experiences of the residents of Canutillo,

Texas regarding decision-making about food choices, access to food, and using consumer
food education information to make food choices?

Subquestion 1: What were the cultural factors and sources of information that influence residents' decisions when making food purchases?

Subquestion 2: How do residents apply cultural and public information to the decision-making process when buying food?

Theoretical Framework of Study

Previous researchers provided foundational insight into the experiences and considerations that influenced the consumer food choices of U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. Three theories emerged in providing the foundation for understanding the interpersonal, intrapersonal, community and policy related factors that influenced the food choices of Mexican-American consumers. The three theories are Satia's dietary acculturation model (DAM), Berry's environmental theory (ET), and the advocacy coalition framework (ACF).

Satia-Abouta, Patterson, Neuhouser, and Elder (2002) coined the term *dietary acculturation* in a study in 2001. He defined dietary acculturation as the process by which a "minority group adopts the eating patterns and food choices of the host country" (Satia, 2010, p. 220). Immigrants change their eating patterns when they arrive to a new country. The extent to which an immigrant adopts eating patterns of his host country depends on individual social and economic constructs of the immigrant, and the exposure to the

constructs of the host country (Basáñez, Dennis, Crano, Stacy & Unger, 2014). Information on the changes of immigrant eating patterns is available; however, limited information is available regarding the Mexican-American immigrant use of consumer food education information when making food choices. Satia's model informed the understanding of what influences acculturation-associated dietary changes and the impacts of those changes on health status.

Immigrant populations are found in many areas of the United States. Berry's ET promotes healthy rural communities and local connections as the basis of a stronger government (Berry, 1990). Canutillo is considered a rural community in the El Paso area. Patches of incomplete infrastructure, such as unpaved roads, no sidewalks, or public lighting, impact many areas within the Canutillo community. Canutillo as a community is hampered by truncated or incomplete development efforts (Nunez-McHiri, Rivera & Marrufo, 2017). Rural communities, have the potential to provide a platform for better understanding of the implications of diversity, acculturation, economic, and political incorporation of the Hispanic community (Lichter, 2012).

Finally, Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith (1993) first introduced advocacy coalition framework (ACF). The goal of ACF is to forward the understanding of incremental policy changes, the role of beliefs in public policy, and expanding understanding of policy learning (Shanahan, Jones, McBeth, & Lane, 2013). Specifically, ACF examines policy issues that stem from goal disputes among multiple levels of government, interest groups, research groups, and the media. The ACF focuses on the behavior of those (called actors) that form coalitions, who seek to influence the policy process. Thus, these

three frameworks may provide insight into how residents of Canutillo access and use consumer food education information to make food choices.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was qualitative, with the focus on gaining an understanding of a problem that is difficult to interpret solely using numbers.

Quantitative studies involve many cases and variables summarized in a numerical way (O'Sullivan, Rassel, & Berner, 2008). A phenomenological study is the most appropriate methodology because it deeply examines the lived experiences. This helps to form a better understanding of how the residents of Canutillo accessed and used consumer food education information to make food choices. The Canutillo area is unique, as are the experiences of the individuals who live there; therefore, a phenomenological inquiry would facilitate in appropriately describing and explaining their experiences (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). This research design, as suggested by Jensen et al. (2014) is a sound approach, best for focusing on describing in detail what the prospective study participants have in common, as they experience making food choices.

Researchers must follow established procedures to gain access to study participants; it would be unethical to select people and talk to them without appropriate protocol in place (Creswell, 2013). After obtaining Institutional Review Board (IRB) approvals from Walden University, all potential research participants were asked to read and sign an informed consent form. The form stated the purpose of the study, reviewed participant confidentiality, addressed potential risk factors of participation, and reviewed the expected benefits of the study. The informed consent was available in both English

and Spanish.

The goal for this study was to have a sample size large enough to understand the characteristics of the phenomena being studied. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) are of the opinion there is no set number of required study participants; however, sample sizes should glean detailed data from participants to answer research questions. Qualitative researchers generally work with small sample sizes (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) and Creswell (2013) made the recommendation to have between three and 10 participants for a phenomenological study. The intent of this study was to gain a better understanding of the thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group. After consultation with the dissertation committee, a sample size of between 12 and 15 participants was determined to be sufficient to provide data to help answer the proposed research questions—or until data saturation occurs. Recruitment of the intended participants was through St. Luke Church and the Westway Community Center after obtaining the necessary permissions. Purposeful sampling techniques helped identify individuals who had experience navigating U.S. consumer food education programs, were of Mexican heritage, and resided in Mexico at least 16 weeks in a 12-month period.

This study will take place in Canutillo, Texas, which is in the Paseo Del Norte region in the U.S. (City of El Paso, 2016). The Texas Department of State Health Services (Texas, DSHS) Regions 9 and 10 are the governing authority over federal consumer education programs and maintain a list of all registered SNAP and WIC recipients within their boundaries (Texas, DSHS, 2016). Canutillo was selected because of its fit to the research design and access to participants.

Definitions

Dual residence is defined as an individual who resides in Canutillo for other than temporary or transitory purposes, and has a second home, a job assignment, business activities or interests, or temporarily relocates back to Mexico for at least 35% of a calendar year (Nielsen, 2013).

Health literacy is defined as the degree to which individuals have the capacity to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and services to make appropriate health decisions (Allen et al., 2011; Negarandeh, Mahmoodi, Noktehdan, Heshmat, & Shakibazadeh, 2013).

Paseo Del Norte Region is defined as the international cross border regions between the City of El Paso, Texas, the City of Las Cruces, New Mexico; and Ciudad Juárez in Chihuahua, Mexico (OECD 2010).

Assumptions

The researcher conducted this study using four assumptions. My first assumption was that residents of Canutillo, Texas are interested in eating nutritious food and therefore will provided truthful information about their daily food selections. My second assumption was that this group has a working definition of what healthy and nutritious means when applied to food. My third was that this group has fully adapted to U.S food culture and recognizes that it does not emphasize the consumption of traditional Mexican food staples. My fourth was that it may be possible that some of the residents of Canutillo are undocumented and as a result may not want to participate in the study or may not be truthful about their experiences during interviews.

Scope and Delimitations

Canutillo residents of Mexican descent, over the age of 18 years, and have experience navigating U.S. food consumer education programs were interviewed for this study. The age range for selection is based on the premise that these residents are of legal age and will most likely be making the primary food decisions for themselves or their households. Additionally, study participants must have residence in Mexico at least 3 months in a 12-month period.

Limitations

The conduct of this study faced several limitations. First, it is limited to Hispanic residents of Canutillo, Texas, over the age of 18 years, who received SNAP and WIC assistance, and also live in Mexico for at least 3 months out of a 12-month period. Participant immigration status, socioeconomic level, educational level, and cultural barriers may have hindrance to accessing consumer food education programs. Another possible limitation was that this study was a qualitative review of a population who spends unspecified time outside of the U.S. Another limitation was my inability to speak Spanish. Although, I can understand the language, I needed to use an interpreter for some participants. It was optimal to conduct live interviews, probe into participants' responses, and stimulate additional discussion that may occur with English-speaking participants.

The appropriate method for this research was a qualitative study and was best suited to understand how participants navigate U.S. consumer food education programs and apply this information to food choices; however, results were not generalizable to a larger population or to immigrant groups in other areas. Another limitation was the lack

of resources. This qualitative study was a dissertation project and there will be no community sponsors. The study was self-funded.

Significance

The results from this research was intended to fill the gap in understanding cultural differences by focusing on identifying the assumptions that define American nutrition and education programs, how these assumptions are validated, and how they are not recognized in food culture. This research was unique as it can inform consumer nutrition and education programs, and policy initiatives.

Consumers play an integral part in the discussion about food, their food choice, and their overall health outcomes. Consumers want clear, concise, and easy to understand information on healthy food and nutrition (Scheidt & Daniel, 2004). These ideas are connected and relevant because they demonstrate a need for social change. The results from this study may highlight the specifics of cultural considerations for program and policy makers. The results also have the potential to give an added dimension to the current discussion and shed light on a social inequity.

Summary

In conclusion, despite being a significant part of food consumers, Hispanic U.S. consumers are believed to be one of the most marginalized populations in the United States. Hispanic consumers, specifically those of Mexican decent, make up a significant portion of citizens who have the highest prevalence of health-related complications because of obesity.

While the USDA has recognized gaps in its consumer food education

programming, it could not impart enough understanding of generalized nutrition labels to consumers. Specifically, Hispanics often have trouble accessing information about nutrition and healthy eating because they have difficulty accessing and navigating consumer food education information. Therefore, this phenomenological study explored the beliefs and influences that guide Canutillo residents' access to consumer food education information and how they use it to make food choices.

Chapter 1 presented an overview of the study and provided justifications for the theoretical base and methodology that will be used to conduct the study. Chapter 2 will present a review of current literature on acculturation and the socio-cultural factors of U.S. consumers of Mexican decent and that supports the need for this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The food that U.S. consumers choose to eat is a complex issue. The problem for immigrants of Mexican descent is even more challenging; therefore, deeper knowledge is required to understand their experiences better. Generally, individuals buy food because it provides sustenance, and satisfies hunger (Chambers, McCrickerd, & Yeomans, 2015). People also make food selections based on taste, convenience, and cost (Aggarwal et al., 2014). Policy makers have had little success interpreting national cultural differences, such as national food staples, in their food and nutrition dietary recommendations to U.S. consumers of Mexican descent (USDA, 2016). The purpose of this qualitative study is to understand the sociocultural factors that influence the ability of residents of Canutillo, Texas. Consumer food education programs and a comprehensive literature review revealed the limited current body of knowledge pertaining to acculturation and consumer food education programs for Mexican-Americans.

Consumers use nutrition and dietary information, along with other components, when deciding what to eat. Policy makers produce food and nutrition dietary information to guide consumers. Much of the current literature has identified policy makers' inabilities to articulate food and nutrition dietary recommendations to their U.S. consumers of Mexican descent (Stewart, Kennedy, & Pavel, 2014). Some researchers have documented factors such as lack of trust and understanding between consumers and policy makers, acculturation and cultural differences (UCS, 2016). However, there is little research regarding perceptions of consumer food education programs among U.S. consumers of Mexican descent.

This chapter includes search specifications and criteria, an explanation of the theoretical framework and the methodology proposed to support this phenomenological inquiry. The next section covers the current literature on the development of consumer food education programs, sociocultural factors and acculturation, immigrant migration and its impact on food choice and deficiencies within U.S. consumer food education programs.

Library Databases and Search Engines

Science Direct, CINAHL, MEDLINE, Google Scholar, ProQuest, PubMed, Sage, and EBSCO Host were the main databases used to obtain articles for this literature review. Due to the specific program focus of this study, specialist databases of reports on current and previous studies, the Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program (EFNEP) and the Food and Nutrition Assistance Research Database (FANRP) articles were accessed via the USDA website.

List of Key Search Terms

To focus the search, the following key search terms were used: advocacy coalition framework theory, Wendell Berry, consumer choice, consumer education, consumer education programs, immigrant, dietary acculturation, attitudes, food assistance programs, food choice, food culture, food deserts, food policy, food swamps, Hispanics, Latina, Latinos, Mexicans, nutrition guidelines, qualitative, dietary acculturation model, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Women, Infants and Children (WIC) and socio-culture.

The search strategy used to conduct this literature review involved a broad search for literature on immigrant and consumer attitudes about food education programs. Particular attention focused on studies about the experiences and impact of socio-cultural factors in accessing consumer food education programs as a broad search, and narrowed to concentrate on studies regarding consumer attitudes about SNAP, WIC, the Food Pyramids, and myPlate programs. The literature review process will include concentrating on studies about and cultural sensitivity and adherence to federal dietary guidelines. A thorough review of literature pertains to the methodology used in similar studies and helps substantiate the proposed methodology for this study. The following literature review is an exhaustive and synthesized review; it reflects the key findings and arguments that are most relevant to the topic of this study.

Theoretical Foundation

It is important to understand sociocultural groups and the influence on what a person chooses to eat. Sociocultural groups share common experiences such as language, behavior, rituals, and values, which impact food choices (Aggarwal et al., 2014). The focus of this study is to examine how sociocultural factors impact peoples' abilities to navigate consumer food education systems and requires a theoretical framework. This framework will assist with linking questions and abstract concepts to actual, quantifiable data (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). 1.2 million Latinos were added to the U.S. population between 2014-2015 (Marsiglia, Booth, Baldwin & Ayers, 2013), with 63.4% being of Mexican origin (US Department of Commerce, 2016). The growing number of the Latino

population, specifically those of Mexican descent provides an opportunity to examine the unique attributes of this group.

Three theories emerged to provide the foundation of understanding the interpersonal, intrapersonal, community and policy related factors that can influence the food choices of Mexican-American consumers. A literature review can provide foundational insight into the experiences and considerations that impact the consumer food choices of this group.

APA Dietary Acculturation Model (DAM)

An immigrant experiences many changes when they arrive in their destination country. These changes are varied; but may include language, local, and food customs. Satia-Abouta et al. (2002) coined the term *dietary acculturation* in a study in 2001. Satia (2010) further defined dietary acculturation as the process by which a "minority group adopts the eating patterns and food choices of the host country" (p. 220). In this model, immigrants balance their own cultural constructs, such as socioeconomic and cultural factors with the realities of acculturation that come with exposure to a host culture. The realities of acculturation can range from political to economic and social factors of migration (Castaneda et al., 2015), to changes in environmental factors, and conflicts with psychosocial preferences, similar to balancing home country and host country customs (Basáñez et al., 2014). The stronger an immigrant's tie is to the home country, the longer it takes the immigrant to acculturate. Dekker et al. (2011) concluded that an immigrant's socioeconomic and cultural construct could help predict the extent to which they may change their dietary patterns. A full understanding of the factors that contribute

to an immigrant's dietary acculturation habits and patterns can provide a clearer picture of immigrant groups.

Analysis of DAM Application in the Literature

Being a migrant is a significant factor of acculturation; however, it is not the sole factor to consider. For the immigrant, migrating to America is full of uncertainties and the unfamiliar (Roshania, 2016). Host countries that receive immigrants are impacted economically, demographically, and culturally by migration (Sakamoto, Wei, & Truong, 2008). Host countries acculturate to migrant groups culturally, by learning the language and employing immigrants with skill sets needed in the local area. In the areas of positive health outcomes that can be attributed to eating healthy foods, Hispanics have a documented history of poor acculturation (Arandia, Nalty, Sharkey, & Dean, 2012). Satia (2010) assumed that most immigrants would adopt the eating patterns of their host country. The extent to which immigrants adopt the eating patterns of the host country depends on individual, social, and economic constructs of the immigrant, and the amount of exposure to the constructs of the host country (Basáñez et al., 2014). Individual, social, and economic constructs are unique to the individuals who experience them. Clear understanding of these constructs can contribute to understanding of the needs of individual immigrant groups.

Consumers make choices based on personal preferences and available nutrition information. A sound consumer education program should have a clear understanding of the individual needs of specific immigrant groups when developing outreach programs (Stewart et al., 2014). A clear picture requires an understanding of relevant sociocultural

Abouta et al. (2002) concluded that health educators and policy makers revamp current consumer education programs to include specific recommendations that are considerate of specific immigrant populations and their experiences. Immigrants make food selections based on the amount of exposure to social constructs of the host country (Basáñez et al., 2014). Understanding these constructs can influence what consumer education programs are developed and disseminated.

Berry's Environmental Theory

Immigrant populations are found in many areas of the U.S. Rural communities across the US and have the potential to provide an ideal platform for better understanding of the implications of diversity, acculturation, economic, and political incorporation of the Hispanic community (Lichter, 2012). Scholars have documented the conversations about rural populations and their impact on society. The most outspoken was Berry, respected by environmentalists and scholars, alike (Bittman 2012). Berry is known for his work on sustainable agriculture and environment, healthy rural communities, thriving local economies, and welfare of the farmer (Henderson & Hursh, 2014). His work eventually developed into what is now called *environmental theory* (Bittman, 2012). The theory has maintained many of its historical structure; however, it has recently taken on political characteristics.

Modern communities function because of a system of rules, regulations, and governing bodies. Environmental theory (ET) promotes the idea of healthy rural communities and local connections as the basis of a stronger government (Berry, 1990).

ET urges local communities to advocate for themselves, as the practice demonstrates that they are politically responsible. Local communities should grow their own food and connect its citizens with those that produce it, and eat responsibly (Berry, 1990).

According to Leach (2012), Berry was a proponent of the idea that government serves its constituency by paying more respect to small and rural communities, as these communities are the fabric of a country (Bittman, 2012). Berry's theory underscores the balance required in the relationship between government and rural communities.

There are health and social implications for not including all populations in this conversation. Communities should rely solely on their own resources or on close neighboring communities for food. Government is better when it has a close connection with citizens, its major goal should be assisting its citizens in achieving better health goals (Barry & Smith, 2008). Community degradation occurs when people who are outside of a community make decisions for people inside of it, as they do not feel the effects of what they do (Berry, 1990). Over the long term, this has broader implications for society. The growth and health of immigrant populations tie directly to the overall health of the larger set of the population, substantive issues and global growth (Lichter, 2012). Ortega, et.al. (2015) worked in the predominately Mexican heritage communities of East Los Angeles and Boyle Heights, California and concluded that multi-level, community-based approaches were key to improving food environments. Communities can benefit when immigrant populations are included in conversations to strengthen small and rural communities.

Analysis of Environmental Theory's Application in Literature

Literature within the last decade applied Berry's theory to topics that focus on economic development in rural communities, regional food systems, and national security. Berry's theory promoted the idea that federal programs are too large, which eventually creates alienation of consumers (Brown, 2014). An example is U.S. agricultural policy for the past 10 years, specifically the Agriculture Act of 2014 (Chite, 2014), which squanders economic potential and sustainability and does not strengthen the ties between the community and the land, according to Cohn (2014). Grassroots organizations are better able meet the immediate needs of consumers served, as they can customize their offerings (UCS, 2011). Roshania (2016) concluded that immigrants found it easier to navigate American grocery stores by taking cooking lessons that incorporated familiar ingredients. Berry's environmental theory provided an assumption that the health of a nation relates directly to the health and viability of local communities. The health of local communities derives from access to healthy food systems (Henderson & Hursh, 2014). Reel and Badger (2014) concluded that interventions, that included providing nutrition and health education (to both community members and political leaders), was a powerful way to increase healthful food access and empower citizens. Food systems can become compromised when policy makers ignore the varied characteristics of the plethora of local communities.

Advocacy Coalition Framework

Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith (1993) first described the advocacy coalition framework (ACF). The goal of ACF is to forward the understanding of incremental

policy changes, the role of beliefs in public policy, and expanding understanding of policy learning (Shanahan et al., 2013). Specifically, ACF examines policy issues that stem from goal disputes among multiple levels of government, interest groups, research groups, and the media. The framework focuses on the behavior of those (called actors) that form coalitions, who seek to influence the policy process.

The primary goal of ACF is to determine the central dynamics of coalitions and those that work within them. Sabatier and Weible (2014) explained that ACF examined the circumstances in which actors create and maintain coalitions to achieve their policy objectives. Coalitions are the primary unit that analyze and understand the policy process (Sabatier & Weible, 2014). Coalitions are fluid and consistently evolve. The results are changes in policy needs. To grasp the concept of ACFs fully, one needs to understand that in broader structures of coalitions, actors serve to meet a singular objective (Ripberger, Gupta, Silva, & Jenkins-Smith, 2014). Coalitions each possess core and secondary beliefs regarding issues under consideration (Rashad & Khadr, 2014; Fisher, 2018). Reaching consensus is more easily achieved by identifying common assumptions and a description of the scope and type of questions the coalition should answer (Sabatier & Weible, 2014; Shanahan et al., 2013). Advocacy coalition framework helps with the examination of the dynamics of opposing coalitions and understanding the process to meet the policy objective in an interrelated manner. Advocacy coalition framework also identifies a solution to the identified policy issue.

Analysis of ACFs Application in the Literature

The process of government works because of the collective efforts of constituents

and policy leaders. Cross-sector collaboration is a time-tested way to advance any policy process (Sabatier & Weible, 2014). A broad base of stakeholders with a wide range of expertise is necessary for any policy initiative to move forward (Johnson et al., 2013). Gagnon, Turgeon, and Dallaire (2007) concluded that health and policy experts could use adapted applications of ACF in a collaborative manner to advance mutual goals. The framework has been applied to a plethora of issues as it relates to the policy process of environment and community development, however its application to immigrants, acculturation, consumer food choice and education programs are new. Advocacy coalition framework is one of the more developed policy development theories. One of its basic tenets describes shared core policy beliefs as the foundation for advocacy coalitions and asserts that unlikely allies can achieve policy change (Johnson et al., 2013). Stakeholders need not agree on everything to advance shared goals.

To understand and realize a healthy policy agenda, the sociocultural factors that impact Canutillo, Texas residents' abilities to navigate consumer food education programs is important. It is necessary for perspectives of immigrants, grassroots and local organizations, scholars, and health and government authorities to navigate their competing interests (Rashad & Khadr, 2014). Advocacy coalition framework provides a lens to understand how residents understand nutrition education that results from the public policy and administration process better. The ACF is an analytical tool that is used to generate better descriptions and explanations in public policy and administration (Weible & Flowers, 2008). Enhanced descriptions and explanations have practical implications that require understanding of policy beliefs.

A core tenet of ACF is policy beliefs. Paying attention to those policy beliefs has practical implications in understanding how governments participate in policy discussions and why they adopt certain policies (Mockshell & Birner, 2015). In a case study of a menu label policy development in King County, Washington, Johnson, Payne, McNeese, & Allen (2012) concluded that in order for a menu label policy implementation the coalition needed an "analysis of coalitions and policy beliefs, a clear picture of the political landscape, policy learning, and expert-based information" (p. S134). Coalitions that practice ACF have more successful policy initiatives when those initiatives are formed with a full understanding of dynamics that may impact an initiative. Mark Winne concluded in a recent interview that food policy councils had the potential to be more successful, as they have secured significant policy gains at the state and local level (Fisher, 2018).

Policy makers make recommendations to consumers. The literature indicates that policy makers have had mixed results in conveying food and nutrition recommendations to consumers (Stewart et al., 2014). The success is more acute for U.S. consumers of Mexican descent (Ogden et al., 2015). Advocacy coalition framework can allow for a deeper and more accurate understanding of context surrounding a relatively new issue (Brecher, Brazill, Weitzman, & Silver, 2010) and can help identify analytic work that might contribute to compromises in policy goals. Advocacy coalition framework assumes that individuals have a plethora of resources at their disposal and then use them to develop strategies to influence policy through many venues. These resources include: (a) formal legal authority to make decisions, (b) public opinion, (c) information, (d)

galvanized workers who will work to achieve goals, (e) financial resources, and (f) skillful leadership (Elgin & Weible, 2013; Sabatier & Weible, 2014). There are no conclusions regarding which resources may be missing in policy initiatives for U.S. consumers of Mexican descent.

Today's food system is complex and consumers have many questions. A sound consumer food education program is one that promotes food that is appealing, nutritionally sound, and considerate of a consumer's culture (Drewnowski & Kawachi, 2015). A sound program should empower all consumers to access educational programs (Lesley, 2016), therefore, allowing people to advocate for and make healthy food choices meaningful in the scope of their lives. Advocacy coalition framework can be useful for a better understanding of why groups behave in certain manners given their specific cultural dynamics. It can also be useful to help identify how groups relate to other groups or systems and how they might work together to achieve goals. The framework provides the opportunity to examine these paradigms with the potential to provide the impetus for change.

Phenomenological Studies

The most appropriate methodology to better understand the residents of Canutillo's decision-making process about food choices and how they access and use consumer food education information to make food choices is a phenomenological approach. Phenomenological research focuses on experiences in everyday life (Rudestam & Newton, 2015) and is well suited to examine the Canutillo residents' experiences accessing consumer education programs.

One can gather a deeper understanding and insight into the everyday experiences of immigrants by talking to and reflecting upon what they share. Phenomenological approaches to understanding food related experiences of specific immigrant groups are found in the literature as early as 2002 (Dibsdall, Lambert, Bobbin, & Frewer (2003). Garnweidner, Terragni, Pettersen, and Mosdøl (2012) used a phenomenological approach to catalogue African and Asian immigrants' dietary acculturation experiences to Western Europe. They concluded that health practitioners and policy makers should be more culturally sensitive in their communications with these immigrant groups. Von Essen and Englander (2013) utilized the phenomenological approach to analyze the psychological process that Swedish young adults used to follow an organic diet.

A phenomenological approach informs and supports a theoretical framework (Creswell, 2014). The acculturation model, environmental theory, and the advocacy coalition framework combined with the description of resident experiences are combined to create better consumer food education programs. Instead of telling residents to eat better in order to achieve better health outcomes, the phenomenological approach will help program writers and coordinators to hear what resident experiences are and how they apply disseminated information in their own words.

Qualitative Studies

In order to advance, it is important to understand the perceptions and the lived experiences of human beings. The public may have a different view when compared to experts, about food, nutrition, and health (Bisogni, Jastran, Seligson, & Thompson, 2012). Qualitative researchers seek to understand the perceptions and experiences of

people, by studying them in their natural environments (Maxwell, 2013). A study about the lived experiences of Mexican-American immigrants and their perceptions about accessing and using consumer food education programs have the potential to advance understanding of social and behavioral aspects of food and eating.

Inquiry is a dynamic process. Qualitative research continues to gain importance in the fields of food, nutrition, and health (Bisogni et al., 2012). Abraido-Lanza, Echeverria, and Florez (2016) conducted a qualitative study and concluded that studies on Latino immigrants are conducted using a transitional perspective; as such, an approach would consider factors such as socio-economic positions and increased work hours outside the home. Macdiarmid, Loe, Kyle, and McNeill (2013) conducted interviews with 50 British consumers and concluded that peer pressure, lack of time to cook, and lack of desire to cook were noted reasons for not following dietary guidelines for eating healthy. The findings from this study demonstrated there was a need for nutritious food options easy to access and prepare.

Ecuadorian teenagers were interviewed sharing that, while they realized the importance of eating healthy, factors, such as cost, taste, peer norms, habit, and autonomy ultimately had an impact on their food choices (Verstraeten et al., 2014). The teenagers understood the importance of eating nutritious foods but were heavily influenced by norms outside their culture and homes. Of note was that many high-calorie snacks were marketed in low-income communities and people in those communities chose those foods because they were familiar and available to the community.

Jay et al. (2014) concluded that Latinas used family dynamics and their immigrant experiences in order to use goal-setting techniques to make behavioral changes that resulted in healthy food choices and weight loss. This study noted that maintaining cultural practices, including preparing and eating culturally familiar foods, is important. Latinas in Jay et al. were receptive to making healthy changes, but worried how those changes would impact their families. The findings in this study suggested that providing Latinas with opportunities to share individual needs and unique family dynamics would enhance opportunities for behavioral changes.

Needs Assessment for Consumer Food Programs

The efficacy of consumer food education programs has widely been debated. Efforts to educate consumers have realized mediocre results (Nagler, 2015). Explanations are varied. They range from incentives for customers to use SNAP and WIC benefits to purchase healthy foods, aligning the application process for benefits, to non-specific consumer food education programs. Several factors figure into what a consumer eats. Those factors include, "taste, convenience, cost, weight management, disease prevention, culture, religion, food contents, and food accessibility" (Ree, Riediger, & Moghadasian, 2008, p. 1255). Many cultures have preferences about what foods they eat and what foods they avoid. A system that considers those factors in combination with a consumer's knowledge about healthy food is the best way to offset the gap between their desires to eat healthy and their final food choices.

Economic factors exist creating conditions where individuals cannot afford to buy food. Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, called the Food Stamp Program, was

born October 1, 2008 (USDA, 2013). Leung et al. (2013) explained that SNAP was not restructured to provide incentives for beneficiaries to purchase healthy foods and advocated aligning programs like WIC and SNAP to streamline the application process, and consumer education efforts. Calls to provide consumers with practical tools to make healthier food choices are traced back to the literature as early as 2009. Miller et al. (2009) concluded that a scientific definition of nutrient dense food, a recommendation of the USDA's dietary guidelines, needs incorporating into nutrition facts labels. A specific definition will assist consumers in choosing and consuming healthier foods.

The primary federal agencies in charge of consumer food policy, the USDA and FDA, agree with scholarly definitions of healthy food. However, both agencies provide consumers with conflicting information on what foods they classify as meeting that definition. Consumers have difficulty interpreting and applying nutritional messages to their diets because of the complexity of information on food items that have several nutrients (Azais-Braesco, Goff, & Labouze, 2006). Language issues may exacerbate consumer interpretation and application. Drewnowski and Fulgoni (2008) concluded that the current consumer food education program needed restructuring to include a clearly defined definition of *healthy* or *nutritious* foods. The USDA acknowledged consumer concerns in their 2015 report and pledged to take public comments on the issue.

Most consumers express the desire to eat healthier, however the literature shows that consumers often make no connection between what the government defines as healthy foods and what consumers eventually purchase. Nutritious foods "provide substantial amounts of vitamins and minerals and relatively few calories" (Drewnowski

& Fulgoni, 2008, p. 23). The USDA advises consumers to eat fresh fruits and vegetables, as they have better nutritional value. However, Drewnowski and Rehm (2015) discussed their findings where African-Americans and Hispanics consumed more 100% fruit juice, with less nutritional value, as compared to White Americans; and pinpointed these consumer groups' participation in government programs like Women, Infants and Children (WIC) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) as a leading factor.

Federal Consumer Food Education Programs

People have different motivation for furthering their knowledge. Understanding the benefit of healthy eating and then selecting foods based on the information requires specific knowledge. Food education "delivered by an authority figure is far more effective" for helping people make healthier choices (Samek, 2016, p. 21). The USDA, specifically the Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion (CNPP), the Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) and Faith-Based and Neighborhood Partnerships (FBNP), are the governing bodies responsible for disseminating literature on food and healthy eating (USDA, 2015). These agencies have the capacity through various methods to identify consumers that would most benefit from customized programs. These programs include SNAP recipient data, school lunch programs, and WIC. Byker and Smith (2014) used state data to evaluate the quality of food for children that were identified as food insecure and were provided with supplemental meals on weekends. Greves-Grow, Cook, Arterburn, Saelens, and Drewnowski (2010) advocated aligning WIC, SNAP, and school lunch programs in order to streamline application process and education messages

(Leung et al., 2013). Government agencies have identified and collected information on consumers, but have not translated this information into a system that has yielded a coherent education system for all consumers. Government agencies must develop a singular system to educate consumers.

The research reviewed in this literature review agreed that assisting groups who may have issues accessing and navigating the current system is key (sources). Questions about how best to reach these specific groups remain. The USDA offers translated materials for non-English speakers in various languages, including Spanish (USDA, 2016). The material offered by the USDA is a comprehensive collection of the agency's own material and material from health organizations like the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, American Diabetes Association, and American Heart Association. Translated material does not go far enough (Cristancho, Peter, & Garces, 2014). Materials should go beyond language translation and should be written to incorporate the unique experiences and other socio-cultural considerations of the groups the materials for which the material is being translated.

Education offers consumers opportunities to refine their knowledge base. The best way to mitigate poor consumer choices, and therefore diet outcomes, is to improve customized consumer nutrition education programs (Larson et al., 2013). Federal agencies and food education programs have the capacity to customize programs because they already have the ability to pinpoint and track the consumers that would most benefit from it. Even with this capacity, some tracking measures may not be effective. Measures of socioeconomic status (SES), such as education and income, may not adequately reflect

the impact of race and social class on health parameters (Drewnowski, Rehm, & Solet, 2007). Socio-cultural marginalized groups use programs like WIC and SNAP. They also participate in school meal programs. Greves-Grow et al. (2010) suggested using consumer demographic information, such as ZIP codes to assess consumer resources accurately. Byker and Smith (2014) suggested using food programs, like free meals and weekend backpack programs to identify and help students who were susceptible to weekend hunger.

State and local governments can directly enhance the daily lives of their citizens. They have a role in advocating on behalf of constituents, as they stand between citizens and the federal government. State and local officials understand how the food system works in their communities and can be reliable, trusted advisers to policymakers when policy changes occur (Fitzgerald & Wolak, 2016). Collaboration between local governments and federal programs has had successful outcomes. As recently as 2016, the Union of Concerned Scientists discussed the Baltimore based, Virtual Supermarket Program, which is funded in part by federal legislation in the 2014 Farm Bill. This community and federal government collaboration authorized demonstration projects to approve retailers to test the use of online technologies to process Electronic Benefit Transfer (EBT) transactions. This program allowed SNAP recipients to use benefits to purchase healthy produce online. The program provided consumers with an opportunity to use their SNAP benefits to provide a new means to access healthy food. This example highlights how community actions and federal programs meant to promote healthy eating can complement each other.

Consumer Interest in Nutrition and Healthy Easting

To obtain and maintain optimal health, consumers are advised to eat a healthy diet. The USDA and USDHH collaborated to produce the *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*. The guidelines have two basic tenets for consumers: eat enough calories to maintain a healthy weight and eat nutrient dense foods and beverages (USDA, 2013). The guidelines are broad, as are the opinions about what constitutes nutritious foods and healthy eating (Ruhlman, 2016). However, other factors impact what a person decides to eat. A person's diet quality is dependent on factors that include availability, personal preference, culture, and convenience. Researchers in a 2014 telephone survey of 2001 randomly selected adults in King County, Washington concluded that consumers who feel positive about the quality of their food choices eat better quality foods (Aggarwal et al., 2014). Consumers are interested in nutrition and healthy eating, and the availability of nutritious foods is a consideration to meeting both goals.

The prices of fruit and vegetables were debated as a strategy to encourage consumers to make healthful choices. Waterlander, Steenhuis, de Boer, Schuit, and Seidell (2012) concluded that reduced prices of fruit and vegetables led consumers to buy more. These programs highlight consumer willingness to follow nutrition guidelines, but do not address consumers who cannot follow those guidelines due to socio-culture or economic factors. Even though eating healthy is important for all consumers, the reality of eating this way can prove problematic for those consumers in socio-cultural marginalized and low-income groups. SNAP and WIC are federal nutrition programs that provide nutrition assistance to low-income consumers (USDA, 2016a). These consumers

rarely use SNAP and WIC benefits to purchase nutrient dense foods like fruits and vegetables. They find fruit and vegetables to be either cost prohibitive or of low quality in their local grocers (UCS, 2013). In 2016, the USDA concluded a public comment period, where they sought guidance on the best ways for increase SNAP recipient's access to healthy foods. The USDA concluded that were changes needed to the requirements that authorized SNAP retailers. Now retailers would be required to increase their minimum inventory and variety of healthy food (USDA, 2016b). There is a need for continued exploration of ways to offer better selections of fruit and vegetables at an affordable price, while providing culturally relevant nutrition education programs that will get consumers to accept them.

Sociocultural Factors that Impact Food Choice

Discussion on environmental and societal factors that impact what foods a person chooses to eat are found as early as 2001. Booth et al. (2001) asserted that the environmental component of food choice begins with microenvironments or behavior settings in which the behavior of lifestyle takes place; if fruit and vegetables are prevalent in a person's environment, she will be more likely eat fruit and vegetables. Booth et al. continued that people are "encouraged to engage in unhealthful behaviors in multiple settings every day and change will involve the cooperation of many corporations, government agencies, professional groups, and advocacy organizations" (p. S30). Immigrant groups that have increased access to foods that are processed, fattening, and categorized as unhealthy, that might not be available in their home country, may realize poor health outcomes without intervention.

Many factors impact what a consumer chooses to purchase. Historically, sociocultural factors that impact consumer food choice were sorted into two categories of influence: social factors and individual preference (Nestle et al., 1998). Social factors include cultural values, perceptions, belief, attitudes, social influences, media and advertising, availability, and variety (p. S52). Individual influences include taste and personal preferences, and education (p. S54).

Hispanics feel that in their birth countries, they have more control over the quality of their food (Van Rompay et al., 2012). Cultural factors influence how Mexican-Americans view healthy food (Masse, 2015). Traditional foods are associated with freshness or meat that is close to slaughter. Hispanics do not discuss healthy foods in terms of the nutritional value (Florez et al., 2012). Even though foods from native countries could be unhealthy, there is a perception that foods in the U.S. have chemicals that make healthier options unhealthy, which in turn causes weight gain (Jay et al., 2014). Immigrants could go to food sources themselves (i.e., gardens and butchers), but in U.S. they cannot, as using the same food sourcing strategies that they used in their home countries or buying organic foods is cost prohibitive. Food is an important part of many cultures. Intervention programs are framed within the context of the socio-cultural construct of the groups in which they are targeting (Caprio et al., 2008). Intervention programs are complex processes, but should move beyond single intervention strategies and outcomes.

Acculturation and Psychological Considerations

The concept and definition of acculturation was explored and debated in social and behavioral sciences. Acculturation has been defined as "those phenomena, which result when groups of individuals having different cultures come into continuous first-hand contact, which results in original culture patterns" (Arandia et al., 2012, p. 20). Culture includes many characteristics, one of which is food. The definition of acculturation has evolved to include immigrant populations. Currently acculturation is defined as the "the multidimensional and multidirectional process whereby immigrants and their descendants adopt the behaviors, beliefs, and values of the host culture while adapting those belonging to their culture of origin" (Satia-Abouta, Patterson, Neuhouser & Elder, 2002, p. 1106). The current definition of acculturation implies that social, emotional, and psychological considerations are important to the fullness of the definition.

Psychological considerations occur when individuals from different cultures come into contact with each other. Immigrant populations may assimilate less, to alleviate the psychological impact of immigration (Delavari, Sonderland, Swinburn, Mellor, & Renzaho, 2013). For one to obtain information, there are psychological considerations of acculturation. These considerations are associated with psychological, behavioral problems, increased stress, and weight gain among immigrant populations to the US (Van Rompey et al., 2012). A full understanding of the process of acculturation and its impact on immigrant health requires recognition of the context in which the immigrant's acculturation occurs (Arevalo et al., 2015). A positive byproduct is that they retain more

of their ethnic identity and traditional heritage, however a negative result is that they never fully adapt to the basic day-to-day practices, such as food selection and health care, in their new country (Tunon-Pablos & Dreby, 2016). It is important for consumer food education program developers to consider the immigrant beliefs when creating education programs and interventions.

The immigrant experience is not a concrete or rigid experience, but rather it is a fluid one. Immigrant groups experience an acculturation phenomenon called "immigrant paradox" (Reiss, Lehnhardt, & Razum, 2015, p. 19). This group shows better health advantages, which deteriorate with acculturation (Van Rompey et al., 2012), as their risk of obesity increases each year that they live in the US (Tunon-Pablos & Dreby, 2016). Certain behaviors were noted in this group; specifically, they ate less healthfully and consumed more convenience foods. Immigrant groups are busier with low paying jobs and fast food is a quick (and cheap) alternative to cooking at home. Mexican immigrants cited "less time to cook," wanting to "be more American," or fit into American culture as primary reasons (Tunon-Pablos & Dreby, 2016, p. 8). Many factors impact the immigrant experience. These factors have a large influence on what an immigrant chooses to eat.

Eating is a visceral experience and a physical necessity. Choosing foods considered healthy requires knowledge. There is a connection between acculturation and health literacy, as levels of acculturation increase, so do the levels of perception of personal control in making health decisions (Perez, 2014). Prior to high levels of acculturation, an immigrant may be unaware of the health implications of the food choices that she is making. In Mexican families, mothers and grandmothers do the most

cooking and are often unaware of the health implications of traditionally cooked Mexican foods, when coupled with unhealthy American food options, such as fast food (Allen et al., 2007). Multicultural negotiation with food and food consumption habits is also another consideration for these families.

There is a challenge between wanting to eat traditional foods, and struggling with the preference of the food available in the U.S. There is a difference in obesity prevalence as well as obesity perception between developed and underdeveloped Hispanic countries. In these societies, poorer citizens who are overweight are viewed as healthy and wealthy. Parents are viewed as prosperous when they have a chubby child (Kilanowski, 2012). As a remedy, de la Torre et al. (2013) concluded that immigrants must culturally adapt for current U.S. nutrition education programs to work. Interventions should aspire to cultural adaptation, and center around family.

Impact of Dietary Acculturation on Dietary Choices of Immigrants

There are changes to cultural identity when an immigrant relocates to a new country. Immigrants must find ways to incorporate and balance their own personal identity, while finding ways to incorporate new culture (Schwartz, Montgomery, & Briones (2006). Finding new methods of balancing identity and culture apply to food choices for the immigrant and the host country (Satia, 2010). There are socio-economic and cultural factors to consider with dietary acculturation. The indicators help immigrants balance dietary choices of traditional versus non-traditional foods and dietary related environmental factors, such as how food is obtained and prepared (Castellanos, 2015; Satia, 2010). Policy makers can aide immigrants by providing them with culturally

relevant information. Good decision-making is important because there are consequences for making poor ones.

Health Literacy

A person needs information to make decisions. Health literacy has a direct bearing on a person's ability to make sound choices; therefore, understanding the causes and consequences of limited health literacy is important to promoting compliance to dietary guidelines (Allen et al., 2011). Zoellner et al. (2011) defined *health literacy* as "the degree to which individuals have the capacity to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and services needed to make appropriate health decisions" (p. 1013). One's ability to make wise choices has a direct correlation to how much one knows. Consumers in socio-cultural marginalized groups often lack health literacy. Therefore, either they make no association between good diet and nutrition, or they cannot apply what they know to their lives.

Government agencies provide the public with an abundance of information. The lack of a concise government definition of healthy foods and disjointed education programs (Stewart et al., 2014) exacerbates the issue of not being able to apply nutrition information to immigrants of Mexican descent. Consumers are often told to eat healthy food. However, the term *healthy* confuses consumers. Health experts contended that the term *healthy* is bankrupt (Ruhlman, 2016) and would like policy officials to communicate to consumers "people are healthy because they eat nutritious foods," (Sukal as cited in Ruhlman, 2016, p. 2). Diet practitioners, researchers, and policy makers must better understand how health literacy affects consumer access to, their comprehension of, and

final adoption of nutrition advice (Zoellner et al., 2011). Consumers use health labels to make food decisions. However, they want labels that give complex nutritional information in a manner that they can process quickly (Campos, Doxey, & Hammond, 2011). Consumers have voiced confusion about health labels. Specifically, they do not understand what the food labels mean or how to apply the information to foods they consider national food staples (Roshania, 2016). This confusion creates a dilemma for consumers because they do not want to discontinue eating foods they consider a part of their national food identity.

Eating nutritious food is vital for good health and wellbeing. A human being's need for proper nutrition is apolitical, which leaves consumers confused about choices they should make (Fanzo, 2015). Consumers have voiced their displeasure with the current definition that federal nutrition education programs use in their literature.

Consumer groups have used litigation to force the USDA and FDA to re-examine the definition of the word *natural* on food products (Aubrey, 2015). Consumer groups have argued that the term *natural* is misleading and confusing to most consumers, as food products and nutritional guidelines "do not contain simple messages" (Belluz, 2015, p. 3). The FDA is currently accepting public comment on the term *natural* on food products. The agency is working collaboratively with the USDA to determine if the definition of *natural* needs to be amended.

Perceptions of Health Care & Patient Education

There are psychological and environmental factors that are related to diet that impact an immigrant's perception of support he receives in health care and patient

education. Immigrant patients generally feel disconnected from their medical care providers (Long, 2013) and therefore mistrust them. Several factors influence these feelings. First, immigrants do not feel empowered, so they are not comfortable asking questions about provider expectations with health and health management (Long, 2013). Second, while Hispanics do rely on their primary physicians for advice on healthy eating, they are distrustful of doctors who tell them to lose weight without offering specific advice on how to do so or are overweight themselves (Jay et al., 2014). Third, Mexican immigrants often do not associate diet quality with nutrition (Aggarwal et al., 2014). Health care providers should be more aware that psychological and environmental factors are important factors in the overall health and wellbeing of immigrants. Health care providers that understand these concepts can provide care that is more effective.

Mexican immigrants find the pace of life in the U.S. much faster than the pace they maintained in Mexico. This pace has impacted their approach to accessing and selecting healthy food. Castellanos (2015) concluded that immigrants preferred their native foods, but cited their new work schedules and family obligations in the U.S. as a factor in not preparing their native foods. They often ate meals prepared outside of the home to maintain their work schedule (Sanou et al., 2014). In situations where work and family obligations were not a factor, Mexican immigrant consumers said the barriers ranged from "lack of knowledge about what foods were available, poor quality produce, mistrust of store owners who were unfamiliar with their culture, and mistrust of government who they felt allowed store owners to sell low quality food" (Larson et al.,

2013, p. 6). Individuals who write and implement consumer food education programs should consider factors that influence the foods immigrant populations select.

Federal Policy Initiatives and Consumer Education Programs

There are several agencies responsible for crafting policy initiatives that have a direct impact on their respective consumer food education programs. These agencies include USDA, which runs WIC and SNAP. Lawmakers have not realized success applying national cultural differences, such as national food staples, in their food and nutrition dietary recommendations to U.S. consumers of Mexican descent (USDA, 2010). When compliance with public policy is low, it is because target populations confront multiple barriers to compliance (Rainey & Weaver, 2015). The remedy to this problem is for policy makers to understand that populations are heterogeneous and blanket policy may work on some, but not others (Stewart et al., 2014). A lack of understanding may hamper progress on policy initiatives, which may continue to impact U.S. consumers of Mexican descent.

An individual's environment is important to one's wellness and overall health. The environment where people make food decisions and develop dietary behavior is significant (Hawkes, Jewell, & Allen, 2013). Researchers concluded that the balance among fast food restaurants, convenience stores, and grocery stores is a more important determinant of obesity levels than other food outlets, such as farmers' markers or specialty food stores (Cooksey-Stowers, Schwartz, & Brownell, 2017). Programs to entice consumers to purchase fresh produce using WIC vouchers are cumbersome for consumers and farmers (Hardesty et al., 2015). Policy makers have tried to address the

issue through several initiatives. The FDA offered translated consumer education materials in 1994, as a service to international consumers (FDA, 2017). Translated material can influence and guide consumers to make healthy choices (Malik, Willett, & Hu, 2013): however, it is only the beginning. In 1992, Congress passed the Farmers Market Nutrition Program (FMNP) for women who had WIC, to use coupons at farmer's markets (Grin, Gayle, Saravia, & Sanders, 2013). These initiatives have had mediocre results. Kaushal et al. (2013) concluded that Mexican immigrant families were less likely to participate in SNAP due to low-income levels, concerns about documentation status, and inability to traverse SNAP guidelines and requirements.

Marginalized and socio-economically disadvantaged communities are commonly targeted for nutrition interventions. Populations that will most likely benefit from increased eating of fresh produce are those that are most susceptible to needing WIC farmer's market voucher programs (Grin et al., 2013). However, policy makers cannot conclusively identify which consumers actually lack access. Also, policy makers do not consider the psychosocial reasons that consumers might have with food access (Broad-Leib, 2013). Efforts to increase SNAP participation among Mexican-Americans eligible for SNAP benefits were inconclusive. This is due to the stress of lower incomes and acculturation efforts (Kaushal et al., 2013). SNAP literature does not give incentives for Mexican-American recipients to purchase healthy foods, nor do SNAP-Ed programs or educational materials encourage or discourage particular food items (Blumenthal et al., 2013). A cumulative and more standardized process can provide policy makers and other stakeholders with evidence-informed methods.

Summary

In summary, access to nutritious food is how policy makers can stave off the cultural and economic impact of disease. Policy makers have had little success applying national cultural differences to U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. These consumers are uniquely vulnerable because of sociocultural and acculturation factors. Satia's dietary acculturation model, Berry's environmental theory, and the advocacy coalition framework have emerged as viable theories in providing the foundation to understanding the socio-cultural related factors that can influence the food choices of Mexican-American consumers. The literature review demonstrated that most studies that examined socio-cultural factors and acculturation factors that impact food choice were quantitative in design. The literature review highlighted the health implications that have confused consumers. These consumers want clear consumer food education programs. The qualitative studies focus on Hispanics as a social class, but do not focus specifically on U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. The goal of this study is to gain a better understanding of the thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group. A detailed description of the study questions and methodology is conducted in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Introduction

Access to nutritious food is one-way policy makers can help stave off the cultural and economic impact of disease. Policy makers have had little success applying national cultural differences to U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. These consumers are uniquely vulnerable because of their shared sociocultural experiences, their Mexican heritage, and their varying levels of acculturation.

The preceding chapter focused on the current literature that focused on the sociocultural factors and acculturation factors that impact food choice in Mexican-American
immigrant populations. The information also demonstrated a need for continued research
to explore the phenomena of the beliefs and influences necessary to understand the
thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group better. The previous
chapter highlighted that most studies that examine sociocultural factors and acculturation
factors that impact food choice are quantitative in design. The qualitative studies that do
exist focus on Hispanics as a social class, but do not focus specifically on U.S. consumers
of Mexican descent. The goal of this study is to gain a better understanding of the
thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group.

The contents of this chapter outline the research methodology used to examine this phenomenon, the context of the study, the participant selection process (including inclusion and exclusion criteria), my role as researcher, measures taken to protect all study participants, and the data collection and data analysis procedures.

Research Methodology

This study was designed to be a phenomenological study. I used phenomenological inquiry because it describes and explains the meanings of human experiences (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). To better understand the residents of Canutillo's decision-making process about food choice and how they access and use consumer food education information to make food choices, having them inform us in their own words of the experience is a sound approach.

This phenomenological approach is informed and supported by a theoretical framework, which included the dietary acculturation model, environmental theory, and the advocacy coalition framework. These theories were used to support the description of resident experiences and the analysis used to create better consumer food education programs. Instead of telling residents to eat better to achieve better health outcomes, the phenomenological approach helped program writers and coordinators to hear what resident experiences and how they apply disseminated information in their own words.

The most appropriate methodology to examine to understand the sociocultural factors that impact the residents of Canutillo's ability to navigate consumer food education programs was phenomenology. Phenomenological studies attempt to understand or portray individuals' common meaning of their lived experiences of a concept or phenomenon (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). All phenomenological research is descriptive in nature (Sloan & Bowe, 2014). Researchers using descriptive phenomenology, which was inspired by the German philosopher Edmund Husserl in the 1930s, look for the general meaning of phenomena by staying close to the richness of the

data collected and restrict themselves from making assertions (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). This research design is a sound approach, as it focuses on describing in detail what the study participants have in common, as they experience accessing and navigating U.S. consumer food education programs to make food choices (Jensen et al, 2014). I wanted to understand better the point of view of Canutillo residents while simultaneously interpreting the results to see if there is more going on than what the residents comprehend (Sloan & Bowe, 2014).

Moustakas (1994) promoted the phenomenological ontological view of embracing participant realities within a specified context, but understanding that multiple realities possibly exist within the population. Because of this context, individual differences may occur and they are no less valid. Aspects of phenomenology were used in this study and were interpretive because the primary aim is to understand participants' realities by examining individual, family, community, and policy experiences that potentially impact how they navigate consumer education programs and make food decisions. The nature of the research questions requires the use of a phenomenology approach. The research questions require Canutillo residents of Mexican descent to express their opinion of the use of current U.S. consumer education programs to inform their food choices. Therefore, a qualitative approach is considered an appropriate research approach for the residents to share their experiences. The review of literature supports qualitative research as an effective method to record the lived experiences of study participants.

Research Questions

This study used a phenomenology approach to understand better the phenomena,

context, and themes Canutillo residents use when navigating consumer food education programs and then using that experience to make food choices. The foundation of interpretive phenomenology discussed previously is used to shape the parameters of this study. My research design focuses on the data collection and analysis to answer the following questions:

Main Question: What are the lived experiences of the residents of Canutillo,

Texas regarding decision-making about food choices, access to food, and using consumer food education information to make food choices?

Subquestion 1: What are the cultural factors and sources of information that influence residents' decisions when making food purchases?

Subquestion 2: How do residents apply cultural and public information to the decision-making process when buying food?

Qualitative Interviews

The above research questions, within the context of phenomenological methodology, directed the interview process. In-depth qualitative interviews are used to gather information that cannot be directly observed such as thoughts, feelings, ideas, intentions, or behaviors that take place in the lives of the study participants (Verstraeten et al., 2014). Interview questions are designed to encourage Canutillo study participants to talk openly about their experiences and understanding. An advantage

of an in-depth interview is that it will facilitate the researcher's ability to gather a comprehensive report of the resident's experiences through discussion.

Understanding why consumers choose the foods they do is a complex issue. Open-ended questions, when phrased properly, encouraged Canutillo respondents to answer creatively and freely, as they tended to be less leading, and allowed participants to answer as they chose. Semi-structured interviewing relies on predetermined questions that all study participants are asked (Patton, 2015). A limitation of the semistructured approach was that it did not allow for variation or pursuing topics or questions that are not predetermined (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2014).

Participant Selection

Research participants were recruited in Canutillo, Texas, which is in the Paseo Del Norte region in the United States (City of El Paso, 2016). The Texas Department of State Health Services (Texas, DSHS) Region 9 and 10 is the governing authority over federal consumer education programs and maintains a list of all registered SNAP and WIC recipients within its boundaries (Texas, DSHS, 2016). Canutillo, Texas, was selected because of its fit to the research design and access to participants. I also contacted the director of the Canutillo Independent School District's Lone Star Building to obtain permission to use the facility to advertise the study as well as conduct interviews. I also posted flyers on the community bulletin boards of Westway Food Store and Rio Grande Supermarket. All three locations are gathering places for the residents of Canutillo and community wide information is regularly disseminated from these locations. Flyers were posted in both English and Spanish.

Potential study participants received a window of one week after flyers were disseminated to contact me regarding participation to think about participating or to ask additional questions about participating in the study. The informed consent document stated the central purpose of the study, included a statement ensuring participant confidentiality, addressed potential risks, and stated expected benefits of the study for participants. Before asking potential study participants to sign the consent form I asked again if they have any additional questions or comments. The informed consent form was printed in both English and Spanish as approximately 98% of Canutillo residents are of Hispanic descent (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2016). For this study, I read the informed consent form to potential study participants who requested the form be read to them, as some participants had poor reading skills. I asked them to verify that they understood by asking them if they had any questions I needed to clarify. If they had no questions, I asked them to sign the consent form. I asked those participants who signed the informed consent form to complete a pre-screening questionnaire (Appendix C and Appendix D). The questionnaire asked demographic information, as well as questions about possible visits to Mexico. Participants that met prescreening demographic continued with the face-to-face, in-depth open-ended interviews in the language they preferred.

Interviews were conducted at various times of the day that are mutually convenient. The researcher has an understanding of spoken Spanish but does not have a working command of speaking Spanish. The researcher used an interpreter to translate to facilitate the consenting and interview process. The researcher followed IRB protocol,

which acknowledged that the translator is fluent in the local language and needed research training. The interpreter signed an acknowledgement of training and a nondisclosure agreement to follow research protocols as mandated by the parameters of the study.

My goal was to recruit 12-15 participants for the research. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) concluded that there is no set number of study participants. The sample size must be large enough to understand the characteristics of the phenomena being studied.

Generally, qualitative researchers work with small sample sizes (Patton, 2015). There are varying opinions about the precise number of participants required to the characteristics of the phenomena being studied. Creswell (2013) recommends between 10 and 25 participants, while Merriam and Tisdell (2016) stated that sample sizes are sufficient when the researcher has gleaned sufficient detailed data from participants to answer research questions. I sought to gain a better understanding of the thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group and based on previous research, it appears that 15 participants will suffice to answer the proposed research questions. Therefore, my intention was to interview 12 or more people, or until saturation was reached.

There is a wide range of sampling strategies in qualitative research. Strategies range from complex case to examining across cases (Lichtman, 2014). The most common method for selecting participants is purposeful sampling (Patton, 2015). Researchers use purposeful sampling as a tool to elicit information to answer research questions (DePoy & Gitlin, 2016). In other words, they can provide clarity on the phenomena being studied (Lichtman, 2014). A purposeful sampling strategy is used to identify participants who

have experienced navigating consumer food education programs and how their experiences, Mexican heritage, acculturation, and dual residence have impacted them.

The criterion for this study dictated that study participants were Canutillo residents over the age of 18. The age range for selection was based on the premise that these residents are of legal age and will most likely be making the primary food decisions for themselves or their households. Additionally, they had to have experienced navigating consumer food education programs, be of Mexican heritage, and have residence in Mexico at least 16 weeks or more per year between 2015 and 2017. All potential participants who met the criteria were asked to participate until the desired number of participants were interviewed.

Anticipating field conditions and potential issues is an important step in the research process (Maxwell, 2013). Some things to think about prior to beginning fieldwork will be gaining access to potential participants, the role the research will take, the mechanics related to conducting the interview, locating documents or audiovisual data, and ethical issues (Maxwell, 2013). The researcher was cognizant of her beliefs about immigrant populations and their acculturation obstacles and experiences. The researcher did not let these beliefs influence the study participants. Additionally, I thought about encountering individuals who may not have felt comfortable voicing their opinions or sharing their experiences. Similarly, the potential participants may have been apprehensive of my presence and the study impact in relation to their immigration status. Although, I did not inquire about participant immigration status as a component of this

investigation, I was diligent in ensuring that I discussed this in the introductory letters as well as during initial conversations with all potential participants.

Data Collection

Upon obtaining approval from Walden University's IRB board (Approval #12-22-17-0391930), I began collecting data in Canutillo, Texas within a month. I continued data collection until I conducted reached saturation. It is customary in phenomenological research that the researcher is the primary tool for data collection (Moustakas, 1994); therefore, I was the primary data collector. All participants who agreed to proceed with the interview after signing the informed consent form were asked for permission to audio record the interview. Proper names of the participants were not used. I assigned an identifier that was a combination of numbers and pseudonyms to each study participant to protect their privacy and not attach individual identities to the data. Interviews lasted 35–60 minutes and the data was conducted in private areas to ensure privacy and confidentiality.

To ensure confidentiality, the researcher intended to use quiet rooms at the Jenna Welch & Laura Bush Community Library to conduct interviews. The researcher also had a contingency for participants that did not want to meet at the community library. All of the participants opted to meet at their homes or classroom at First Hispanic Baptist Church of Canutillo. All interviews were guided by a structured interview worksheet to facilitate the consistency between all study participants (Maxwell, 2013).

It is important to remain cognizant of one's own repertoire of knowledge, beliefs, values and experiences during interviews, as well the ability to identity themes (Chan,

Fung, & Chien, 2013). This researcher kept a journal and used the bracketing technique to capture my thoughts, reactions, and observations of nonverbal communication while in the field (Chan et al., 2013).

Data Management and Analysis

My study's data management components followed recommendations of Creswell (2013). Appropriate data management means storing, coding, making sense of codes, and presenting findings to the intended audience (Miles et al., 2014). I utilized proper data management techniques, including collection, documentation, and secure retention (Maxwell, 2014). To ensure adequate data collection, documentation, and retention in this study, I used computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, such as NVivo12 by QSR International (Maxwell, 2014).

Open coding was used as an approach to analyze the data that was collected during interviews to obtain themes and then categorize them based on statements provided by the study participants (Creswell, 2013). I relied on techniques such as finding synonyms and words with similar roots. I also connected similar concepts. Using this process, I was able to develop conclusions from the data.

Validity and Reliability

Subjectivity is at the forefront of qualitative research because the primary research tool is the researcher (Patton, 2015). The researcher makes all the decisions regarding coding, themes, decontextualizing, and recontextualizing (Lichtman, 2014). In phenomenological research, the researcher must be constant in their honesty and vigilant of their own perspective, biases, and developing hypothesis (Lichtman, 2014). One

method that researchers can utilize in order to maintain self-reflection and transparency is bracketing (Mawell, 2013). The phenomenological approach facilitates the use of bracketing to conduct self-reflection during interviews to add reflections, processing, and support (Lichtman, 2014). A suggestion is that researchers use other reflective practices that include consulting with mentors, advisors, and committee members, throughout the data analysis process. To ensure validity for data collection, I used a triangulated approach. First, all interviews (with consent) were audio recorded using a digital recorder with an external microphone and transcribed verbatim. If the interview were conducted in Spanish, it was transcribed first in Spanish, and then transcribed from Spanish to English. All interviews followed a structured interview worksheet to aide in consistency between study participants. The interview transcriptions were typed into a word document on a password-protected personal computer. The word document, observations, and audio files are then uploaded to NVivo12 on a password-protected computer for management and analysis. Second, any statements by the study participants that could be taken for granted or were disconfirming were given extra scrutiny and reported in the analysis (Creswell, 2014). Finally, rich and thick descriptions were used to detail the participants of the study, as such description maximizes the chances that future study readers would be able to transfer student information to other study settings (Creswell, 2013).

Summary

This qualitative research explored the beliefs and influences that guide Canutillo residents accessing information on nutrition and healthy eating and navigating consumer food education information provided by *US Dietary Guidelines* and the *myFood Pyramid*.

The theoretical framework guiding this study was phenomenology. Phenomenology was used to create empathetic, self-reflective, tolerant, and unexploited relationships that help produce a structured description of Canutillo, Texas residents. This chapter focused on the context of the study, the participant selection process including inclusion and exclusion criteria, the role of the researcher, the protective measures taken on behalf of the study participants, and data collection, and analysis processes. Fifteen residents over the age of 18 years who had experience navigating consumer food education programs, were of Mexican heritage, and had residence in Mexico at least 3 months in a 12-month period were asked to participate in the study. After agreeing to take part in the study, participants received time to ask questions, read, and sign the informed consent form. The researcher conducted open-ended, in-depth interviews to help understand resident beliefs and experiences navigating consumer food education programs to make food decisions. All data was transcribed and uploaded in to NVivo12TM to assist with the data management and analysis process. Finally, the researcher employed a triangulated approach to ensure transparency of biases, thoughts, and observations during fieldwork, to ensure reliability and validity.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

I this chapter I present the findings from in-depth interviews from Mexican-American residents of the Canutillo, Texas community regarding their views on U.S. consumer food education programs. The purpose of this qualitative research was to understand the sociocultural factors that influence the resident's abilities to navigate consumer food education programs. The previous chapter highlighted that most studies that examine sociocultural factors and acculturation factors that impact food choice are quantitative in design. The previous chapter also noted that the qualitative studies that exist focus on Hispanics as a social class, but do not focus specifically on U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. This chapter describes the research instrument, community partners, setting, recruitment, data collection process, and the qualitative data analysis.

Interpretation of the data will be discussed in Chapter 5. Previous studies examined the lives of Hispanic consumers as a social class but did not focus specifically on U.S. consumers of Mexican descent. Therefore, the goal of this research was to gain a better understanding of the thoughts, perceptions, and beliefs of this U.S. consumer group.

For my study, I used a phenomenological research design to gain perspective on the sociocultural factors that influenced the residents' ability to navigate consumer food education programs. Phenomenology relies on rich, descriptive interviews and in-depth analysis of the lived experiences to understand or portray individuals' common meaning of a concept or phenomenon (Roulston, 2010). Phenomenological research begins with concrete descriptions of lived experiences, in the first person, void of intellectual

generalizations (Creswell, 2013). Based on the results from the results from the qualitative data analysis using computer-aided data analysis software, I presented the coding structure and outcomes obtained from the interviews that were conducted in accordance with the method outlined in Chapter 3.

Demographics

A total of 9 Canutillo residents participated in face-to-face interviews. In order to determine their eligibility to participate in the research, I had to capture basic demographic information. I was careful to not collect any demographic information that would potentially identify the participants in order to protect their confidentiality. To maintain confidentiality, I randomly assigned each participant a pseudonym (see Table 1). The participant's ages ranged from 23-82 years of age with the mean age of 54 years of age. Participants spent from 16 weeks to 30 weeks in Mexico each year with the mean number of weeks of 21. All the participants (n = 9) spoke both English and Spanish but reported that they spoke primarily in Spanish at home. Six of the participants were born in Mexico and three were born in the United States. All the participants lived with at least one other family member.

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Participants

#/PSUED	Age	Nationality	Spanish Speaker	English Speaker	Language Spoken in Home	Relative(s) lives in home	Weeks in Mexico
P1/Maria	61	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	17
P2/Leticia	41	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	18
P3/Juan	42	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	19
P4/Rosa	82	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	30
P5/Carlos	82	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	30
P6/David	23	United States	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	16
P7/Ana	55	Mexico	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	18
P8/Miguel	57	United States	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	17
P9/Yolanda	41	United States	Yes	Yes	Spanish	Yes	21

Data Collection

The recruitment, selection and interview process took four months to complete. Some participants initially agreed to the interview, but reconsidered, citing travel to Mexico and lack of time due to other commitments. One participant would only agree to participate if they could complete the interview in the presence of their spouse. In addition, several participants expressed concerns about their qualifications for the study and therefore concluded that their perceptions would be of little value. I clarified the objectives of the study, as well as the interview questions and each participant agreed to complete the process. To ensure privacy, I prearranged to use the quiet rooms at the local

community library to conduct interviews. However, all the participants opted to meet in other locations. Six participants opted to meet in their homes, two preferred to meet in an unoccupied classroom at a local Hispanic church in Canutillo. One participant asked to be interviewed at their place of employment. Each participant was offered the opportunity to review transcripts of their interview, so that I could ensure that I had captured their perspectives accurately. All but one participant declined to review their transcript.

Individual circumstances such as economic, political and social status were not considered in the recruitment process. However, I obtained the consent of individuals of varied backgrounds and experiences. Upon receipt of the signed consent form, I prepared for conducting face-to-face interviews at mutually agreed upon and convenient locations in Canutillo. The duration of conducted interviews averaged from at least 21 minutes to 90 minutes. The average interview session averaged approximately 34 minutes. Two interviews were rescheduled due to unscheduled commitments and unanticipated time lags at the border crossing. In addition, to achieve data saturation and clarification, I conducted in person follow-up interviews with two participants.

At the beginning of each interview session, I expressed appreciation to participants for agreeing to contribute to the study. I reassured each participant of my intent to comply with the terms and conditions of the consent form. Even though participants were told during initial communications that interviews would be digitally recorded and that I would be taking notes, I reconfirmed that digitally recording the interview was still acceptable.

The interview questions were open-ended, introducing talking points to generate discussion address the research questions. Although, participants agreed to give me their time, I wanted to remain respectful of their generosity and proceeded to immediately outline the purpose of the study and the goals for furthering discussion on their perceptions of socio-cultural factors that influenced their abilities to navigate consumer food education programs. To dispel any concerns about the value of their input, I reminded participants that no comments on the research topic would be considered irrelevant and would be appreciated. It took a few rounds of open-ended interview questions before all of the interview participants appeared to be at ease with the format of the process and shared their opinions and perceptions freely. Additionally, I told each study participant at the end of the interview they would be compensated with a \$15 gift card for their time. One participant refused to take the gift card stating, "This work is important; I am not taking money for something that everyone needs to know."

Creswell (2013) concluded that researchers use bracketing as a technique to maintain objectivity, credibility, and reliability of data. Bracketing is an enhancement to the researcher's study, as the process facilitates a complete understanding of a participant's perspectives. In several instances, participants in my research made inquiries about my personal views of the topic of discussion. In each instance, I responded by acknowledging the need for me to remain objective and avoid influencing the outcome and then restated or rephrased the question to elicit a response.

A significant challenge for me was getting the participants to focus on questions on specific sources of information, as opposed to viewpoints on the quality of the

information or credibility of the information. I elicited open, candid and dependable responses as interviews proceeded. I was always able to confirm findings and enhance validity through follow-up questions and communication with participants, as recommended by Roulston (2010).

To facilitate participant flexibility in sharing their perceptions, I tried to build rapport with each individual and listened carefully to respondent answers, consistent with maintaining a semi-structured interview environment as recommended by (Creswell, 2013). As participants responded to the interview questions, it became apparent through their body language and demeanor they wanted to provide responses they presumed would satisfy me. As the conversation progressed, however, each participant became more candid and shared their perspectives and viewpoints.

My earlier decisions to digitally record each interview and take notes resulted in minimal distraction to the participants (Roulston, 2010). It one instance, approximately 5 minutes of an interview was not digitally recorded due to technical issues. However, I was prepared for the contingency with additional resources and the participant was gracious by agreeing to rerecord their responses.

Data Analysis

I read through transcripts from each face-to-face interview to gain an overall understanding of the general content. My study's data management components, including data collection, documentation, and secure retention, followed recommendations of (Creswell, 2013; Miles et al., 2014). Full written, annotated transcripts from each interview were imported as Word documents into NVivo qualitative

analysis software. I culled the data to identify prevalent themes in participant's responses. I searched for broad categories and common subthemes, according to the frequency of occurrence using word frequency searches. I used synonyms and words with similar roots as my foundation for building themes. I also connected similar concepts. Next, I coded each transcript using an inductive coding approach as described by Saldana (2016). These codes were later expanded, and word maps were developed using NVivo to organize the codes in an inductive manner.

Initial coding categories changed several times as I reviewed the data. Once new codes were identified and updated, I re-read each transcript and made note of the changes. I organized subcategories under each topic covered in the interview questions. The subcategories allowed me to differentiate between each participant's responses about how they navigated consumer food education programs.

The intent of the overall process was to collect data and information from participants sufficient to inform the theoretical framework. The overarching framework included the dietary acculturation model, environmental theory, and the advocacy coalition framework. These theories would provide me with a systematic way of understanding the descriptions of the resident's experiences and support the analysis used to discuss consumer food education programs. An analysis of the resident responses related to these categories is discussed in the context of the central research questions below.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Process for Credibility

The credibility of this study was verified through data triangulation of the sources for data collection. Data triangulation involves using different sources to increase the credibility of a study (Roulston, 2010). This process involved checking my interpretations with participants themselves and using quotes from the participants in my analysis to support findings.

Evidence of Transferability

As previously discussed for this study to be credible and to contribute to the existing literature, it depended on the quality of the data collected, data analysis, and verification of findings. The goal of phenomenological research focuses on experiences in everyday life (Creswell, 2014). Therefore, to ensure this study was credible, confirmable, and dependable certain procedures were strictly adhered to throughout data collection and data analysis.

Process for Dependability

The procedure to ensure dependability was confirmed by using a digital audio recording device to capture verbatim what each study participant stated during the interview. Using an audio recorder produced a more reliable account of the data collected, created a permanent recording of the interview, and referred to numerous times after the interview. The digital audio recording eliminated the need to recall what was conveyed during the interview. Participants granted me permission to record each interview when they signed the informed consent form prior to beginning the interview.

Process for Confirmability

To ensure confirmability in this study I used rich descriptions from the study participants and bracketing. This study includes verbatim transcriptions of each interview to provide contextual and detail rich data. I took notes during the interview in a separate research journal and during data analysis, highlighting themes as they emerged. Direct quotes provided a rich detailed description of the data from the participant's perspective. Bracketing required me to capture my thoughts, reactions, and observations of nonverbal communication while conducting interviews and analyzing data.

Results

The following section presents the research findings. The sections follow the same organizational sequence as that of the interviews. The themes gathered identified from reviewing the transcripts are interwoven throughout the findings to provide richer detail and validation for the themes. All the responses are direct quotes from the research participants.

Decision-Making Process

Initially I asked each participant to tell me about the knowledge they have and the decision-making process they used when deciding what foods to eat. Each of the nine participants readily shared the factors that contributed to their individual decision-making approach. The factors reflected the specific personal habits and thought processes of each participant. In response to their decision-making process, participant answers varied from "pretty much whatever is close by" to "I go to the store with my list and shop around" to "I look at the money and then find the things we need to have a balanced meal." Personal

habits and thought processes of each participant also surfaced when they were asked to provide specific definitions or to pinpoint specific sources of their knowledge.

Definition of "Healthy Food" & Sources of Knowledge

It was important to ascertain each participant's definition of healthy food and where they obtained the knowledge to craft a definition. I asked them to describe what they meant when they used the phrase "healthy food." The participants body language and jovial disposition gave me the impression that they were at ease with the question because the participants provided their responses in a quick manner. The responses varied from "food with no preservatives or chemicals" to "natural food" to "food that isn't processed and is good for you." I then asked participants where they gained this knowledge. All the participants took time to ponder the question before providing an answer. In response to where they obtained their knowledge, participant's responses ranged from "school, I guess" to "I don't know, that's just what I think of' to "I guess it's from my parents and the way we were raised." There was a general agreement about the definition of healthy, but there was confusion about the sources of knowledge used to form the definition. As the interview progressed, however, it became apparent that participants could more precisely pinpoint their sources of knowledge.

Meals

I asked each participant to describe their typical meal plan for breakfast, lunch and dinner. Breakfast was the standardized meal, as all the participants consistently described breakfast as: eggs, tortillas, beans, chorizo, bacon, juice, and milk. The responses for lunch were less uniform. All the participants, except for Rosa, Carlos and

David, said that lunch consisted of whatever was left over from the previous night's meal. Variety was important for two of the participants. Carlos said about his wife (Rosa): "during the lunch hour she always cooks something different. Chile with queso or frijoles with queso or different things. I like to mix it up." David described his approach to meals in a more spontaneous fashion. He said, "everything is spread out in Juarez, so I look around as I am passing by and whatever looks good and whatever I haven't had in a while that's what I have." I asked participants what else they recalled learning they believed makes a difference in choosing the foods they ate. None of the participants shared specific facts from their past. It surprised me that everyone ate almost identical foods for breakfast and rarely vacillated from those food items. Participants took advantage of the variety of food options that were available to them. This was evident in their decision-making approach for lunch and dinner, as well as the food they ultimately chose to consume.

Household & Personal Schedule

Family obligation and interconnectedness was a core value for all of the research participants. Each participant shared a variation of scheduling as a major factor in making food choices because they wanted to ensure that their choices provided them the opportunity to maximize the time they spent with family. David was the youngest participant. When asked about dinner, David described it as a quasi-collective family decision. He said:

Whatever my family wants to eat, then we go out to eat. Everyone just says a suggestion until we come to an agreement. So, if it's like me and my mom, my

sister and my dad at home. We'll be like, "Oh, who wants food? Like what do you want to eat?" Basically, my mom will say something, cause when she says something that's what she really wants. So, we just go with what my mom wants. David was aware that the process he used was not a typical process but was comfortable with the process that worked for his family.

Meal time was an extension of family time and provided a sense of emotional well-being for participants. Yolanda said:

I try to cook as much as I can. So that we're connected... dinner is a time for our family to connect. We're more likely to sit around the table together at the same time if dinner is something that I've cooked or breakfast is something that I've cooked on the weekends. In our house mealtime is sacrosanct, so I try to cook as much as possible, so that we can eat together as much as possible. That is our one time of the day where everybody's there.

Rosa and Carlos spent the most time in Mexico of all the participants. It was important for them to eat with their children each time they returned to the US. Rosa and Carlos shared, "When we come from Mexico, we call our kids and we get together and they all call each other over here and we get together at the restaurant, all of us around the table." Family time was paramount to the participants. Participants planned and modified their meal schedules and food choices to maximize the amount of time they would be together.

The next part of the interview dealt with sources of information. Specifically, I wanted to know what sources of information participants used to decide what foods were nutritious to eat.

School and Coursework

Leticia, Juan and David emphasized the fact that formal education was an important source of nutrition information. The three participants commented that they enrolled in cooking and nutrition classes in high school as a graduation requirement. Juan and Leticia went to school in Mexico and David was educated in the United States. The three felt it was important for me to understand that these classes differed from traditional cooking classes that focused solely on recipes and meal preparation. In their classes students discussed nutrition concepts, planned menus around those concepts, discussed budgets and then cooked meals. Leticia said, "we planned a menu. Then we make a list. It varied from seeds, meats, dairy. Then we watch each other cook and also take turns cooking and then we'd talk about what we made and ate." David said, "It was like a health class, but it was like a nutrition themed class, as an elective. I know we did onetime, we did this breaded chicken." Juan said, "We learned to make plenty of food." The formal education system was an important source of nutrition information and a key component for making educated and well-rounded decisions about what foods are considered nutritious to eat.

Professionals

All nine participants stated that they relied on professionals to get information on what foods were nutritious to eat. Participants defined professionals as personal

physicians, state and federal government agencies such as the FDA, USDA and the TX Department of State Health Services, and leaders of community health classes.

Personal Physicians

Seven of the participants received nutrition information from their personal physicians. It was important to participants that they had someone who they felt understood their personal history and lifestyle. Each described receiving information tailored for them based on their particular needs. For example, Maria is diabetic and shared, "I listen to my doctor most of the time. It's for my own good. He told me to take classes to learn to make healthier meals." Carlos said, "They tell us not to eat too much fat. Of course, [not to eat] the sugar and stuff like that. Don't use a lot of salt. Don't use a lot of candy or sugar. Just eat small amounts...not to eat as much." Rosa, who is also a diabetic said her physician advised, "No sugar. No candies. No Cokes. No greasy things." Leticia shared that following her doctor's advice is sometimes difficult, however, "I try to listen and then see what I can change. What I can buy and not buy." Generally speaking, participants appeared to value medical advice and sought ways to incorporate the advice of these professionals into their lifestyle choices.

Government Agencies

Government agencies were another source for food and nutrition information.

Eight participants noted product labeling as their sole reason for using these agencies.

Miguel explained, "Thanks to the FDA, you have to know your source of the food, what your country of origin is and then if it's bagged…read the labels." Product labeling provides relevant information about nutrition, calories and serving sizes. This information

was important to participants, as they devoted significant amounts of time to reading product and nutrition labels. Carlos said about his wife, "She likes to pick up the can, reads it. Puts it back. Also, with the meat. She goes to the meat market...she picks up things or the ground meat. She's always looking and reading." Maria commented about learning how to read labels in a community health class, "I learned how to look at the labels and read them." Generally speaking, participants understood the benefits of reading product labels. More importantly, they wanted me to know they understood how the practice could enhance their lives.

Community Health Classes

Community health classes were another source of information that participants used. Maria, who has health issues, registered for classes at the community center near her home on the advice of her physician. She said, "Recently, I took a couple of classes at [deleted]. It's a class for diabetic people. I learned how to cook different meals that are healthier and that kind of thing." I got the impression that Maria wanted me to know that she not only identified a deficiency in her knowledge, but was also was able to find a solution to solve her problem.

Television and Social Media

Television and social media outlets were another source for food and nutrition information. Four participants stated that they relied on the immediacy and up to date nature of these sources. David talked about getting his advice from *The Dr. Oz Show*, "It's just like he talks about counting calories and how bad processed foods is for you and stuff like that. It's one of those things where you listen to it and it's like 'Oh dang, I

should really stop." The Internet is a popular resource for obtaining health and nutrition information. Participants, however, provided no indication that they verified the source or date of the information that they found online. Carlos talked about a report he watched on the computer:

Yesterday, I was listening to a report about ground meat they said that chicken... actually some ground meat comes... nobody knows this...the public doesn't know...but it comes with pork, chicken, turkey and it's all mixed! In fact, they said they even ground the feathers with it! They said people don't know it, but this is something that is very, very bad for people. Well it opened my eyes not to buy a lot of the ground meat, unless I know exactly what it is. And that's one things we're going to have to be careful about.

Social media was a source of information for participants. Even in instances where the information was undated or unverified, participants were unified in their conclusions that social media provided them with opportunities to assess their eating habits.

Family, Friends, Farmers Markets, Store Trends

Five participants indicated that they rely on family, friends, local farmers markets and supermarkets to provide food and nutrition information. Yolanda said, "I appreciate taking my children to the farmers market, so they can see the connection between a farm and what they eat. I also like that bus that goes around. The [deleted] Bus?" David talked about having spirited conversations about healthy meals with his friends. He said, "I have one friend that when I offer something...they're like 'oh no, that's not healthy.' I'm like 'your loss,' pretty much." Participants used farmers markets and store trends as an

opportunity to educate themselves and member of their family. Leticia shared a similar spirited conversation with her son, "I tell my son all the time. I tell him to look at the paper and pick and then I see it [what he wants me to buy] and I say, 'fattening, fattening and fattening, so you get nothing, nothing, nothing.'" Carlos said, "We don't buy because of commercials. We go to the store and we, well actually she like to, she's always looking. She spends hours in the store. She likes to see what they have." Miguel talked about buying eggs at a local nursery:

We go down to [deleted]. It's not certified organic, but they're free-range chickens. The employees there at the nursery go out and gather eggs. They clean them, they package them. You get eggs, the whole shapes, sizes, and colors. They are fresh, they're two or three days old or new. Yeah there is a distinct difference and the flavor is different because the birds are out there not eating corn all the time, which is the basis for all food development in the US. But those birds are out there eating ants and grubs and grasshoppers are doing what chicken do.

Participants valued the opinions of family, friends and healthy trends promoted by food sellers. Even though there was no consensus about the extent of this influence, participants valued the influence of commercial messages among the sources of information that were available to them.

The next part of the interview dealt with the participant's experiences as they determined what foods they ate. This part of the interview also asked participants to discuss how their culture impacted of influenced their experiences. All of the participants discussed economic and budgetary considerations.

Budget

Budgetary concerns—as opposed to the cost of food items—was a major factor of consideration in terms of food choice for participants. All of the participants talked about buying products in Mexico or buying Mexican products sold in the United States to maximize their spending potential. These participants shared that they mainly purchase poultry, fish, pork and beef because of US Customs and Border Protection policies. Juan said, "I prefer Mexican meats. It's expensive here [in the United States]. Rosa said, "You see now it's very expensive. Months ago, it is not too expensive. I go into the store and bought some things and they sell me few and I need to pay more." Participants also altered their spending habits to maximize their spending potential. Ana said:

We try to go by season to save money. And we try to pay attention to what's in season. About a month ago strawberries were just abundant so we ate a lot of strawberries. Now corn on the cob is it coming into season, so we're going to have more corn that way.

Participants were baffled by the cost of American food products. The cost of US. meat only exacerbated their feelings of bewilderment. All participants were unified in their belief that fortifying their pantries with Mexican products was the best way to maximize their budgets. They were also comfortable with the strategies of buying sale items and eating produce in season when buying Mexican products were not an option. Each participant spoke at length about their heritage and culture. They all felt that heritage and culture had impacts on their experience.

Food Choices and Nutrition

All nine participants shared how their Mexican-American culture had an impact on how they made food choices and how they used food and nutrition in their daily lives. Food was a way to validate and honor family traditions. Maria identified her "go to" ingredients when cooking, "We use a lot of cilantro. Si. I learned from Mom and my aunts and then followed the seasonings that they used. Red chili sauce, garlic, onions, cilantro, cumin." Leticia said, "My mother is the cook in my house." Carlos shared memories of his sister, "My sister, she brought me over here to learn English. I was 12 years old. She put me to cook, she puts me to learn everything." Rosa shared, "I was raised with my aunt. Her name was also Rosa. She had a restaurant. And while I was in school and stuff I used to help. So, I learned real good. Also, a lot of foods from Spain. I lived with people they bring things from Spain and I learned." Ana shared a memory:

I remember just this last week, we were going around to the different farms and I was...my cousins and I were commenting, 'we used to pick los duraznos por ahi, we always used to go over to these people and get apples and we used to get the...ciruelas, plums? from over there' But it was all us kids, our parents would just give us a bucket and say, 'Go over to so and so's house and get a bucket of duraznos.' I mean peaches.

Individual memories were a source of pride for participants. The continuance of family history was key to continuing food culture.

Mexican-American heritage sometimes produced feelings of embarrassment, isolation and shame for participants. Maria shared the feelings she had while taking a

community health class. She shared, "They explained to me that Mexican food is more aggressive. That's the word I'm choosing. That's my word. I took it as it's less healthy." I probed her by asking if she believed Mexican food was less healthy and Maria responded, "Sometimes. It depends on how you prepare it, the Mexican ingredients." Maria's opinions underscored the reality that participants were proud of their culture, however was able to rationalize and internalize their feelings when they felt their heritage was being evaluated by people that were not Mexican-Americans.

During the interview, four participants addressed their perceptions of how food was marketed to them. Yolanda said, "Well, I guess speaking for myself from a lot of people with whom I have discussions that farmers markets are not for people from diverse backgrounds. It's like we don't want to go to farmers markets or we don't want to buy produce that way." Mexican-American heritage influenced participant behavior. Maria shared her feelings about asking questions in the grocery store or in her nutrition classes. She said, "Sometimes, I feel like I am very Mexican. Sometimes I feel like, maybe I shouldn't ask, but it's for good." Thus, Mexican-American heritage is an apparent source of emotional conflict. Juan shared his mixed feelings about Mexican assimilation to American culture. He said, "I think, how can it be possible? What happened with your traditions? Your mother's teachings? Your father's teachings? Your Spanish teachings? Your food, your Hispanic food? Yeah. But I understand why. Because the culture is part of the life. The more time you live in some place, the more culture you get." The participants understood the impact that their culture made on their food decisions. They internalized their feelings when they felt their culture was being

scrutinized. To not be viewed as confrontational, they were able to identify when they needed to not address their feelings to other Mexican-Americans going through the assimilation process.

Quality

Seven participants noted their perception of the quality of food in which they had access. Generally, participants had the perception that Mexican food products not only tasted better but were healthier than American food products. For instance, David said, "Everything is more fresher over there [in Juarez]." Upon further probing, David added, "It's more like home cooked. You know what I mean? Cause it's like even though you're not at their home, but in restaurants it's like families that own the restaurants, so you're getting a home cooked meal. American food it's fast and processed." The participants were bothered by the speed in which American food is grown and produced. Rosa said, "In a way, Mexican food is better. Because it's grown in little places. They not putting any...chemicals to grow...like here."

Participants feel that there is a correlation between the speed of U.S. food production and how the food tastes. Carlos shared, "tomatoes for instance, there's a big place over there pretty close to where we live on the American side where they raise these hot houses, you know where they raise tomatoes. They put a lot of chemicals and make them grow...but there's nothing in them, you know. You don't taste anything." Upon further probing about his perception on the quality of American food, Carlos shared, "The taste of American food is going away. McDonalds and all those places you know. If you ask for a hamburger, it's not made out of meat. It's made out of corn and

stuff like that...more and more mix to it. So, I think it's downhill. Not as healthy. To me it's not as healthy as Mexican food." The participants were concerned about how the continued consumption of U.S. food would impact their children's health. Leticia shared during her interview she does not take her children to eat out because "We do not go much because the food here is too expensive, too fattening and too sweet." Yolanda shared her observation of her children when she allows them to eat American fast food, "they eat it faster. Usually they are hungry more...they are hungrier faster." There was a consistent perception that US food producers use chemicals in the production process. Mexican food was ultimately viewed as healthier than US food as a result in US production practices. The use of chemicals and large commercial farming techniques in the US impacts how fast food grows and ultimately has negative impact on the overall taste of food, in the view of participants.

Quality of Meat Products

It was important to participants to have access to quality meat products. All participants felt the cost of American meat products was greater than in Mexico, however, participant opinion about the quality of American meat products varied widely. The determinants for what was considered as *quality* was a matter of participant preference. Miguel shared his feelings on American meat, "I have no problem eating animals, it's fine. However, if you can do it in a humane and ethical way, then I think that they should when as much as possible do it that way. Whether it's free range, grass fed beef or even poultry, I think ultimately, it's a better product, better tasting." Maria, however, had an opposite opinion "Anything that is meat is better here [in the U.S.]. I

prefer to buy it here because it's a better quality." Leticia and Juan, both preferred Mexican meat products, but shared their opinion on American brisket. Leticia said, "I love the American brisket more than I do the ones there." Juan said, "American brisket it's better than Mexico, but it's more expensive." Carlos shared, "Pork chops, mainly. It's the main thing that we buy here. Beef is better over there [Mexico]." Eating meat was seen by participants as an important component to overall nutritional health. They were convinced that Mexican meat products were less expensive than US products. The final determinant of quality (and where participants would buy meat), however, was a matter of budget followed by personal preference.

The final part of the interview asked participants to share their opinion of the food and nutrition information they have received. They were also asked to discuss whether or not they felt culture and its traditions were considered in the information. They were finally asked to share their opinion on making healthy choices in the future.

Locating Mexican Products

It was important to participants that they maintain their culture and heritage. Participants indicated that accessing Mexican products was integral to maintaining that connection. The participants had no preference on whether they wanted to purchase the products in the US or go to Mexico and bring them back. Current US policy as it relates to trade and customs enforcement is a source of feelings of uncertainty for participants. For instance, Carlos said:

Due to the restrictions the government is coming with, like our new president over here to me is making a big mistake running all these people that are picking up you know the fields and stuff like that so food is gonna [be] even a lot more higher.

The subject of trade and customs enforcement also produced feelings of anger. Ana recalled an argument she had about her buying Mexican products:

I see no problem with buying products from Mexico. The proximity is the reason why. So, when I see that the product was made in Mexico I know there are two points of entry into the US for produce and that is Nogales and El Paso, so as far as a regional area it isn't that far and it's good." Leticia said, "We bring as much as we can from there, but sometimes they [US Customs] tell us we cannot cross. Current US trade policy and customs enforcement is a source of feelings of uncertainty and frustration for participants. Mexican products were important and having access to them was essential to maintaining their sense of connection to their culture. Participants would continue to seek these products regardless of the perceived conflict in buying them or the difficulty in the steps required to do so.

Access to current information

Participants shared their opinion of the food and nutrition information they have received. Five participants felt that having access to current and trustworthy information was paramount. However, there was no consensus about where the responsibly for locating the information falls. Citizen engagement is important to participants. Ana said:

People need to think outside the box. And by people, I mean citizens. We need to tell our officials what we need and then demand they give it to us. We don't need to go all the way to Austin or D.C. We can do it here.

Community and government partnerships are important to the participants. Miguel shared, "If you are in an area like we are here in El Paso, we require greater civic involvement on both the government and the community, NGOs to get involved to ensure that the resources are available for what people need." Individual determination and fortitude is important the participants. For instance, Yolanda said:

I guess ultimately it would be my responsibility since I'm the one responsible for the food. And if it's [eating healthy] something that I'm saying I would like to do then it would be my responsibility to go out and find the class or the website or the whatever the offering that will provide me that information that I want. So, I don't know whose responsibility it is to bring it mainstream. It's my responsibility to find the information.

David said of access to current information, "You have people who prefer to eat healthy. And you have your people who say I'll just eat whatever I want to eat. It's up to the individual [to educate themselves]". Information appears to be key to making timely and informed choices. Generally speaking, participants appeared to understand that having access to information is a starting point for making nutritious food choices. While there was no consensus on whether government agencies, local entities, or grassroots organizations bear the responsibility for identifying access points, participants appeared to understand that they have a major role in final outcome of the process.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to examine the beliefs that residents of Canutillo had about the socio-cultural factors that influenced their abilities to navigate consumer

food education programs. Chapter 4 provided an overview of the process used to collect, manage, and analyze the data collected from Canutillo residents of Mexican-American descent regarding their perceptions of navigating consumer food education programs. Participants were selected based on purposeful sampling techniques and all participants were informed of the research's objectives, their rights and signed informed consent forms prior to the beginning the interview process.

Responses from in-depth interviews examined how Canutillo resident's Mexican heritage influenced their ability to navigate consumer food education programs. The first interview question explored the decision-making process that participants used when they decided what foods to eat. The participants had varying approaches. Participants provided their definition of healthy food but were unable to state definitively where they obtained the knowledge to create the definition. All participants consistently described breakfast as: eggs, tortillas, beans, chorizo, bacon, juice and milk. Participants described lunch and dinner in a less uniformed manner. None of the participants recalled specific from their past in which they believed made a difference in choosing the foods they ate. All of the participants shared that scheduling is a major factor in making food choices because maximizing their time with family was important.

The next part of the interview dealt with the sources of information that participants used in order to determine if their food choices were healthy. Participants mentioned their personal physicians, community health classes, television and social media. Another source of information was government agencies, such as the USDA.

Participants relied on the FDA solely for product labeling information. Participants also obtained information from family, friends, farmers markets and store trends.

The cost and quality of American food was a concern for participants. Participants either purchased Mexican products in Mexico and brought them back to the US or purchased those same products on sale in the US to maximize their budgets. A majority of the participants felt that the quality of American products, specifically American meat, was less than for Mexican products.

All of the participants believed that their heritage and culture impacted how they made food choices and how they used food and nutrition in their daily lives. A majority of participants recalled learning to cook from family members, which impacted the ingredients they currently used in their own meals. Some of the participants felt that community health classes and food marketing were not considerate of their heritage and culture.

Finally, participants shared their opinion of the food and nutrition information they received. They also discussed their opinion on making healthy choices in the future. All of the participants indicated that being able to locate Mexican products and having access to current information would be integral to making healthy choices in the future. There was no consensus about where the responsibly for locating the information falls.

The last section in this chapter identified evidence of quality. The first measure to ensure quality was a process for credibility. To ensure credibility I used data triangulation. The second process to ensure quality was bracketing and journaling. For this measure I used direct quotes from the research participants. The third measure used

to ensure quality was dependability. To ensure dependability in my research, I used a digital recorder to capture what each participant stated during the interview. Chapter 5 offers an interpretation of the findings, limitations of the research, recommendations, social change implications, and researcher's experience.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine the beliefs and influences that guided consumers of Mexican-American descent as they navigated U.S. consumer education programs. Policy makers in the United States have a problem implementing policy that imparts sufficient understanding of generalized nutrition labels to consumers, and specifically consumers of mixed heritage. Previous research showed that Hispanics often have trouble accessing information on nutrition and healthy eating because they have difficulty accessing and navigating consumer food education information and the unique cultural differences may be a contributing factor.

Understanding Mexican-American's perceptions and experiences while navigating US. consumer education programs is critical in reducing mortality and morbidity rates for this population.

This study was based on the following research questions:

Main Question: What were the lived experiences of the residents of Canutillo,

Texas regarding decision-making about food choices, access to food, and using consumer
food education information to make food choices?

Subquestion 1: What were the cultural factors and sources of information that influence residents' decisions when making food purchases?

Subquestion 2: How do residents apply cultural and public information to the decision-making process when buying food?

To answer these research questions, I used a phenomenological approach with in-

depth, face-to-face interviews with 9 residents of Canutillo, Texas. Phenomenological studies attempt to understand or portray individuals' common meaning of their lived experiences of a concept or phenomenon using in-depth interviews (Creswell, 2014; Moustakas 1994; Rudestam & Newton, 2015). Phenomenology facilitates the researcher with a fuller understanding of lived experiences by focusing on perceptions of beliefs, which may be taken for granted as common knowledge (Creswell, 2014; Moustakas, 1994; Rudestam & Newton, 2015; Sloan & Bowe, 2014. The interviews were audio-recorded to ensure accuracy and in the verbatim transcription. I used NVivo12 for data management on a password-protected computer. To analyze the content of the data I used an inductive coding approach. Inductive coding allowed me to discern repeated or significant themes from the raw data

In this chapter I will interpret the findings based on the themes identified in Chapter 4. Next, will be a discussion of the findings in relation to the conceptual framework used to guide the study. Lastly, I identify the limitations of the study, recommendations for further research, social change implications, and personal reflections while conducting the study.

Summary of Findings

After careful analysis of the data, the researcher found that

Table 2

Research Questions and Themes

Research Questions	Themes
What were the lived experiences of the residents of Canutillo, Texas regarding decision-making about food choices, access to food, and using consumer food education information to make food choices?	Conflict about assimilation, happy memories of learning to cook from family, family time, feelings of isolation
Subquestion 1	Themes
What were the cultural factors and sources of information that influence residents' decisions when making food purchases?	Social media, formalized education, community cooking classes, personal physician & medical professionals, government agencies (FDA, USDA), farmer's markets & store marketing and family & friends
Subquestion 2	Themes
How do residents apply cultural and public information to the decision-making process when buying food?	Purchasing Mexican products, seeking current nutrition information, quality meat products

Interpretation of Findings

Demographic

All the participants provided a brief overview of their life by answering several demographic information questions including age, whether they were born in the United States or Mexico, whether they spoke English and/or Spanish, if they made the primary decisions about what foods were purchased and consumed, and how many weeks they spent in Mexico the previous year. All participants (n = 9) spoke both English and Spanish but reported that they primarily spoke Spanish at home. Six of the participants

were born in Mexico and three were born in the United States. All but one of the participants (n = 8) reported that they travel to Mexico for short trips between 24-48 hours. These trips typically began on Friday afternoons and ended on Sunday evenings. Participants use the time to visit relatives, keep medical appointments, and do their shopping. This is similar to the findings of the Texas State Comptroller's Office (TSCO, 2015), which stated that nearly 20,000 people cross between Juarez and El Paso each day to work, shop and go to school on both sides of the border.

Family Time

Based on in-depth interviews, Canutillo residents make decisions about what to eat based on the amount of time they believed could maximize their time with family. Participants believed that preparing foods at home was the more nutritious option, however if they perceived that doing so interfered with family bonding time and activities then eating out was the more viable option. This is similar to findings that concluded that family obligation is an important cultural value for Mexican-American families (Gaskins, Lin, Menjivar, & Simpkins, 2016; Gonzales, Fuligni, Telzer, & Tsai, 2015).

Food Choice and Nutrition

Participants valued their individual memories of learning to cook. They used ingredients from those childhood memories in their current cooking as adults. These memories heavily influenced how they cook meals, even as they adapted to American foods and cooking traditions.

Participants felt excluded from healthy food initiatives, such as farmers markets and organic produce, because those programs and products were not specifically marketed to them.

Dual residence consumers attempted to assimilate to American food traditions and customs but are conflicted about the process. The conflict was two-fold: one, should they assimilate at all and two, if so, what was the appropriate speed to do it? This is similar to the findings of Abraido-Lanza, Echeverria, and Florez (2016) that concluded Latinos (to include Mexicans) feel stigmatized by culturing messages and practices from U.S. society. Participants participated in cooking classes, where they learned to make American style foods or adapt traditional Mexican recipes. Participants were conflicted about the process of learning to prepare American food, as well as adapting traditional Mexican recipes. However, they have rationalized the process by saying "it's for my own good" or "it's okay."

Social Influences

Dual residence consumers get nutrition information from their social circles. These social circles include family and friends. These consumers felt that their social circles provided a support system because of shared sociocultural factors, such as the Spanish language, the Canutillo community and Mexican heritage. The findings of this study supported the findings of Dekker et al. (2011), Basáñez et al. (2014), and Castaneda et al. (2015) who concluded that an immigrant's socio-economic and cultural support predicted the extent to which they acclimated to the dietary patterns of their host country.

Media

Dual residence consumers watched television, such as news segments and *Dr. Oz* and used social media outlets, such as YouTube, Facebook that related to nutrition information. These consumers felt that these particular sources provided viable and up to date nutrition information and therefore could aide in them making better choices for themselves and their families. The study findings were similar to Kashal, Waldfogel, and Wright (2013) who concluded that consumers developed eating practices based on social factors, advertising and information provided by educational outlets and media programming.

Government Agencies and Health Professionals

Health professionals, such as personal physicians, are an important source of nutrition information for dual residence consumers. These consumers prefer and rely on the customized information that these professionals provide. The findings of this study are similar to the findings of Jay et al. (2014) who concluded that Hispanics prefer to have health advise from health professionals over their family members as these professionals provide small and measurable goals instead of broad ones. All the participants are aware that government agencies play an integral role in providing consumers with nutrition information, these consumers cited product labeling as their primary reason for the utilizing these agencies. The findings of this study support Aubrey (2015) and Gottlieb (20140 who concluded that consumers read nutrition labels and has challenged federal agencies to clarify how products are labeled.

Access to Quality Food (Meat)

The quality of U.S. meat products was important to all of the dual residence consumers. There was no consensus on whether the United States or Mexico had better meat products, however all the consumers were unanimous in their opinion that U.S. meat was more expensive than the same products in Mexico. Fifty-six percent of the participants were concerned about their ability to afford U.S. meat products in the future. This supports the findings of Aggarwal et al. (2014) who concluded that consumers who feel positive about the quality of their food choices make healthier food choices.

Mexican Food Staples/Budget

The cost of U.S. food items has a major impact on the food decisions of Canutillo residents. These consumers rely on their ability to obtain Mexican products to increase and extend their spending budgets for food items. The participants either looked for Mexican products in the United States that are reduced in price or purchased items in Mexico and then brought them back to the United States. Dual residence consumers had no preference on where they purchased items but had concerns about the amount or monetary value of items that they could bring into the United States. from Mexico due to inconsistencies with U.S. Customs officials at border crossings. The consumers believed that their ability to continue to make nutritious food choices depended on their ability to access Mexican products. These findings support researchers (Arandia, Nalty, Sharkey, & Dean (2012); Basáñez et al. (2014) and Stewart et al. (2014) conclusions that these consumers make deliberate food choices based on their personal preference and

nutritional needs but would also benefit from enhanced economic and socio-cultural support and incentives to further the acculturation process.

Access to Information

It is important to dual residence consumers that they have access to information that they perceive is current and trustworthy. These consumers feel that current and credible information is essential to maintain their ability to make informed nutritional choices for their family. However, these consumers are undecided about who bears primary responsibility for providing the information and is responsible to ensure and verify that the information is obtained. This is consistent with conclusions by Fitzgerald and Wolak (2016) who concluded that when citizens are provided an opportunity to voice their opinions, they have greater trust in the veracity of the information and services provided to them by the government.

Theoretical Framework

Dietary acculturation model, Berry's environmental theory, and the advocacy coalition framework guided the development of my research questions and were the lenses for data analysis and discussion of findings.

APA Dietary Acculturation Model (DAM)

Traditionally, immigrants balance their own cultural belief and practices with the realities of acculturation that come with exposure to a new culture Basáñez et al. (2014). Based on the findings of this research, dual residence consumers continued to practice their cultural beliefs. These consumers, however, had difficulty or were emotionally conflicted when attempting to blend their cultural practices, such as family time and

locating Mexican food staples with U.S practices. This finding is in line with the with the conclusions of Arandia, Nalty, Sharkey, and Dean (2012) and Basáñez et al. (2014) that Hispanics traditionally have poor acculturation to mainstream American culture, which can impact what they choose to eat.

Berry's Environmental Theory (ET)

The foundation of environmental theory is the idea that government works from the grassroots level Berry (1990). The application of the study's findings were inconclusive with respect to environmental theory. Dual residence consumers recognize that they are mainly excluded from American food culture and often feel stigmatized when learning to acclimate to American culture. These consumers understand the relationship between civic engagement and community vitality. The participants were able to identify the key players required to form these partnerships, as well as the unique role of each player. There was no consensus, however, about how to engage these players. The participants did not have any insight into how possible relationships should be nurtured and cultivated.

Advocacy Coalition Framework

Fisher (2018) concluded that citizens want to collaborate in order to implement what they perceive is a policy goal. Dual residence consumers are able to identify the actors that can provide them with nutritious food products that are affordable, and are aware of nutrition information, supporting the conclusions of Ripberger, Gupta, Silva, and Jenkins-Smith (2014). These consumers can identify what the benefits they receive

from these actors, however they were unable to apply their knowledge to identify or develop specific consumer nutrition education policy initiatives.

Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations to this study including but not limited to a small sample size, sampling design, specific geographical location and potential for bias. The first limitation was the small sample size of 9 participants. The sample size may not truly represent the perceptions and beliefs of Mexican-Americans within the larger population. Secondly, the study was limited to a non-random sampling design, which restricts the ability to generalize the study findings. Thirdly, all study participants resided in Canutillo, therefore the results may not be representative of the geographical makeup of Mexican-Americans outside of the study area.

Additionally, the responses to interview questions were self-reported by the study participants; thus, there is a possibility of recall bias or misrepresentation of facts.

Recommendations

This study is by nature an introductory look into a large population of consumers in the United States. The findings of this study contribute to the knowledge base of dual residence U.S-Mexican consumers' perceptions of U.S. consumer education programs and the various levels that influence their decisions.

It is important that health educators are cognizant of their biases when they provide community education programs. These biases may include a lack of sensitivity or awareness of Mexican traditions and cultural practices. Health educators should not only include mainstream American food staples into their instruction material but provide

materials that these consumers with adaptations to traditional recipes. Secondly, dual residence consumers are interested in the offerings of local food stores, such as farmer's markets. The marketing of these food sources should be more sensitive to heritage and cultural needs of this large consumer group. This can be achieved with direct advertising, as well as product specific offerings and labels. Thirdly, there should be more concerted effort to educate dual residence consumers about scrutinizing and vetting nutrition and health information. The consumers interviewed do seek advice from health professionals and use product labeling to make food choices. However, there is a potential to maximize the health benefits that these consumers already receive, by teaching them how to better scrutinize the health information.

Another recommendation is to continue research with dual residence consumers in Canutillo, El Paso and across the United States. The findings from this study offer numerous areas for continued research in various aspects of the experience of dual residence consumers and access to food education. This exploration includes community nutrition programs, exploring grocery store experiences, specifically in the United States. or exploring the experiences of dual residence consumers that live in Mexico, but spend significant amount of time in the United States. Additionally, the parameters of this study dictated that participants spend at least 16 weeks per year in Mexico. However, there was a significant number of people that expressed interest in the study but were ineligible because they spent 12-15 weeks in Mexico.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this study have the potential to create positive social change. The findings contribute to the existing information about the lived experience of dual residence consumer's experiences as they navigate United States consumer education programs. Additionally, the findings have the may help inform program and policy makers about cultural considerations in nutrition program development and implementation.

The knowledge gained from this study can also be used to influence local, state, and federal agriculture and consumer education policy towards developing consumer education materials that are more culturally inclusive and appropriate for these consumers. Current materials in many states, including Texas, simply provide Spanish translated materials. By disseminating the findings of this study, I hope to bring a general awareness and advocate for these and other marginalized consumers. I intend to disseminate the results of this study via multiple venues including local presentations, professional conferences, and peer-reviewed journals. By disseminating my research to a board audience, I hope to bring greater awareness to the experience of dual residence consumers and the barriers these consumers experience while navigating consumer food education programs and information.

Researcher's Experience

To reduce researcher bias, I used bracketing. Bracketing is a tool used in phenomenological research to reduce researcher bias and assumptions to understand the phenomenon being studied from the participants' point of view. Therefore, I identified

my preconceived notions about the participants and how I believed they obtained and used U.S. consumer education programs. I journaled about my thoughts, perceptions, opinions, and feelings of the Canutillo residents for several weeks while waiting for IRB approval. Additionally, during data collection I continued to journal at the end of each interview and when I visited locations in the community frequented by participants to reduce researcher bias. Additionally, during data collection, I asked participants to provide feedback on and verify the transcripts of the interview. Finally, during data analysis, I discussed my thoughts, feelings, and beliefs with my advisor to set aside any preconceived ideas that may have interfered with the true essence of the participant responses.

Conclusion

In conclusion, based on data analysis I was able to determine that the family time, cost, quality of meat products and access to Mexican products and current information impacted dual residence consumers of Canutillo, Texas' experiences and decision-making process regarding what food they decided to eat. Additionally, under the umbrella of Research Question 1, I found these consumers experienced inner conflict about assimilation and feelings of isolation. These consumers cherished the happy memories of learning to cook from family and went to great lengths to make deliberate food choices that maximize their family time.

Research Sub-question 2 explored the cultural factors, as well as the sources of information that influence residents' decisions when making food purchases. Dual residence consumers allow a plethora of sources and cultural factors to influence their

decision-making process. These factors include social media, formalized education, community cooking classes, personal physician & medical professionals, government agencies (FDA, USDA), farmer's markets & store marketing and family & friends.

Research Sub-question 3 explored how dual residence consumers apply cultural and public information to their decision-making process when buying food. The study findings concluded that the consumers valued their ability to purchase Mexican products, valued current nutrition information, and based their ability to eat nutritiously, in part, on their ability to source quality meat products.

References

- Abraido-Lanza, A. F., Echeverria, S. E., & Florez, K. R. (2016). Latino immigrants, acculturation, and health: Promising new directions in research. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *37(1)*, 219–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021545
- Aggarwal, A., Monsivais, P., Cook, A. J., & Drewnowski, A. (2014, February). Positive attitude toward healthy eating predicts higher diet quality at all cost levels of supermarkets. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition & Dietetics*, *114*(2), 266-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2013.06.006
- Allen, M. L., Elliott, M. N., Morales, L. S., Diamant, A. L., Hambarsoomian, K., & Schuster, M. A. (2007). Adolescent participation in preventive health behaviors, physical activity, and nutrition: Differences across immigrant generations for Asians and Latinos compared with Whites. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(2), 337–343. http://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.076810
- Arandia, G., Nalty, C., Sharkey, J. R., & Dean, W. R. (2012). Diet and acculturation among Hispanic/Latino older adults in the United States: A review of literature and recommendations. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *31*(1), 16–37. http://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2012.647553
- Arévalo, S. P., Tucker, K. L., & Falcón, L. M. (2015). Beyond cultural factors to understand immigrant mental health: Neighborhood ethnic density and the moderating role of pre-migration and post-migration factors. *Social Science & Medicine*, *138*, 91–100. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.05.040

- Aubrey, A. (2015, November 11). What's "natural" food? The government isn't sure and wants your input. *NPR: The Salt*. Retrieved from http://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2015/11/11/455506222/whats-natural-food-the-government-isnt-sure-and-wants-your-input
- Azais-Braesco, V., Goff, C., & Labouze, E. (2006). Nutrient profiling: Comparison and critical analysis of existing systems. *Public Health Nutrition*, *9*(5), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1079/PHN2006966
- Barry, J., & Smith, K. (2008). Landscape, politics, labour and identity: Stewardship and the contribution of green political theory. *Landscape Research*, *33*(5), 565–585. http://doi.org/10.1080/01426390802323781
- Basáñez, T., Dennis, J. M., Crano, W. D., Stacy, A. W., & Unger, J. B. (2014).

 Measuring acculturation gap conflicts among Hispanics: Implications for psychosocial and academic adjustment. *Journal of Family Issues*, *35*(13), 1727–1753. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X13477379
- Belluz, J. (2015, December 15). The best and worst nutritional advice from around the world. *Vox*, 1–7. Retrieved from: https://www.vox.com/2015/12/15/10220358/food-guidelines-around-the-world
- Berry, W. (1990). The pleasure of eating. In *What Are People For? Essays* (pp. 224). Berkeley, CA: Counter Point.

- Bihan, H., Casterbon, K., Mejean, C., Peneau, S. Palabon, L., Jellouli, F., ...& Hercberg, S. (2010). Socioeconomic factors and attitudes toward food affordability and health are associated with fruit and vegetable consumption in a low-income French population. *Journal of Nutrition*, 823-830.
 https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.118273
- Bisogni, C. A., Jastran, M., Seligson, M., & Thompson, A. (2012). How people interpret healthy eating: Contributions of qualitative research. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *44*(4), 282–301. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2011.11.009
- Bittman, M. (2012, June). The thing (or things) about Wendell Berry. *Humanities*, *33*(3), 1–4. Accessed from: https://www.neh.gov/humanities/2012/mayjune/feature/the-thing-or-things-about-wendell-berry
- Booth, S. L., Sallis, J. F., Ritenbaugh, C., Hill, J. O., Birch, L. L., Frank, L. D., ... Hays, N. P. (2001). Environmental and societal factors affect food choice and physical activity: Rationale, influences, and leverage points. *Nutrition Reviews*, *59*(3), S21–S36. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2001.tb06983.x
- Brecher, C., Brazill, C., Weitzman, B. C., & Silver, D. (2010). Understanding the political context of new policy issues: The use of the advocacy coalition framework in the case of expanded after-school programs. *Journal of Public Administration and Theory*, 20(2), 335–355. http://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/mup008

- Broad-Leib, E. M. (2013). All (food) politics is local: Increasing food access through local government action. *Harvard Law & Policy Review*, 7, 321–341. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2339261
- Brown, M. (2014). Wendell Berry's farmer: Balancing "the natural" with "the cultural"? *American Studies in Scandinavia*, 39(2), 14–28.
- Byker, C., & Smith, T. (2014, October). Food assistance programs for children afford mixed dietary quality based on HEI-2010. *Nutrition Research*, 35(1), 35-40. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2014.10.009
- Campos, S., Doxey, J., & Hammond, D. (2011). Nutrition labels on pre-packaged foods:

 A systematic review. *Public Health Nutrition*, *14*(8), 1496–1506.

 http://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980010003290
- Caprio, S., Daniels, S. R., Drewnowski, A., Kaufman, F. R., Palinkas, L. A., Rosenbloom, A. L., & Schwimmer, J. B. (2008). Influence of race, ethnicity, and culture on childhood obesity: Implications for prevention and treatment. *Diabetes Care*, *31*(11), 2211–2221. http://doi.org/10.2337/dc08-9024
- Castaneda, H., Holmes, S. M., Madrigal, D. S., DeTrinidad Young, M. E., Beyeler, N., & Quesada, J. (2015). Immigration as a social determinant of health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *36*(1), 375–92. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182419
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 [software program] version 10. QSR International; 2012. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 78(1), 25. http://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe78125

- Castellanos, D. C. (2015). Dietary acculturation in Latinos/Hispanics in the United States.

 *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 9(1), 31–36.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/1559827614552960
- Chambers, L., McCrickerd, K., & Yeomans, M. R. (2015). Optimising foods for satiety.

 *Trends in Food Science & Technology, 41(2), 149–160.

 https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2014.10.007
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y., & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *Qualitative Report*, *18*(30), 1-9. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol18/iss30/1
- Chite, R. M. (2014). *The 2014 Farm Bill (P.L. 113-79): Summary and Side-by-Side* (CRS Report No. 43076) (p. 236). Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.

 Retrieved from http://nationalaglawcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/R43076.pdf
- City of El Paso (2016). *International bridges*. Retrieved from https://www.elpasotexas.gov/international-bridges
- Cobb, L. K., Appel, L. J., Franco, M., Jones-Smith, J. C., Nur, A. & Anderson, C. A.M. (2015). The relationship of the local food environment with obesity: A systematic review of methods, study quality, and results. *Obesity*, *23*(7), 1331–1344. doi:10.1002/oby.21118

- Cohn, R. (2014, March 6). Wendell Berry: "For Americans to talk about sustainability is a bit of a joke." *Guardian*. Retrieved from:

 http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/mar/06/wendell-berry-americans-sustainability-joke
- Cooksey-Stowers, K., Schwartz, M.B. & Brownell, K.D. (2017). Food swamps predict obesity rates better than food deserts in the United States. *International Journal of Environmental Research an Public Health* 14, 1366. doi:10.3390/ijerph14111366
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among the five approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cristancho, S., Peters, K., & Garces, M. (2014). Health information preferences among Hispanic/Latino immigrants in the U.S. rural Midwest. *Global Health Promotion*, *21*(1), 40–49. http://doi.org/10.1177/1757975913510727
- Cruwys, T., Bevelander, K. E., & Hermans, R. C. J. (2015). Social modeling of eating: A review of when and why social influence affects food intake and choice. *Appetite*, 86, 3–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.08.035
- Curtin, D. W., & Heldke, L. M. (Eds). (1992). The pleasures of eating. In *Cooking, Eating, Thinking Transformative Philosophies of Food* (1st ed., pp. 416).Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Dee, A., Kearns, K., O'Neill, C., Sharp, L., Staines, L., O'Dwyer, V., ... Perry, I. J. (2014). The direct and indirect costs of both overweight and obesity: A systematic

- review. *BMC Research Notes*, 7(242), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-7-242
- Dekker, L. H., Snijder, M. B., Beukers, M. H., de Vries, J. H., Brants, H. A., de Boer, E. J., ... Nicolaou, M. (2011). A prospective cohort study of dietary patterns of non-Western migrants in the Netherlands in relation to risk factors for cardiovascular diseases: HELIUS-Dietary Patterns. *BMC Public Health*, 11(441), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-441
- de la Torre, A., Sadegh, B., Green, R. D., Kaiser, L. L., Flores, Y. G., Jackson, C. F., ... Schaefer, S. E. (2013). Niños sanos, familia sana: Mexican immigrant study protocol for a multifaceted CBPR intervention to combat childhood obesity in two rural California towns. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1033), 1033–1045. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1033
- Delavari, M., Sonderland, A. L., Swinburn, B., Mellor, D., & Renzaho, A. (2013).

 Acculturation and obesity among migrant populations in high-income countries:

 A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 458-461.

 http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-458
- DePoy, E., & Gitlin, L. N (2016). *Introduction to research: Understanding and applying multiple strategies* (5th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Publications.
- Dibsdall, L. A., Lambert, N., Bobbin, R. F., & Frewer, L. J. (2003). Low-income consumers' attitudes and behaviour towards access, availability and motivation to eat fruit and vegetables. *Public Health Nutrition*, *6*(2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1079/PHN2002412

- Drewnowski, A., & Darmon, N. (2005). Food choices and diet costs: An economic analysis. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 87, 900-904. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuv027
- Drewnowski, A., & Fulgoni, V. (2008). Nutrient profiling of foods: Creating a nutrient-rich food index. *Nutrition Reviews*, 66(1), 23-39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.00003.x
- Drewnowski, A., & Kawachi, I. (2015). Diets and health: How food decisions are shaped by biology, economics, geography, and social interactions. *Big Data*, *3*(3), 193–197. http://doi.org/10.1089/big.2015.0014
- Drewnowski, A., & Rehm, C. D. (2015). Socioeconomic gradient in consumption of whole fruit and 100% fruit juice among US children and adults. *Nutrition Journal*, 14(3), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-14-3
- Elgin, D. J., & Weible, C. M. (2013). A stakeholder analysis of Colorado climate and energy issues using policy, analytical capacity and the advocacy coalition framework. *Review of Policy Research*, *30*(1), 114–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/ropr.12005
- Emergence Health Network. (2016). *Crisis services*. Retrieved from: http://emergencehealthnetwork.org/crisis-services/
- Fanzo, J. (2015). Ethical Issues for human nutrition in the context of global food security and sustainable development. *Global Food Security*, 7, 15-23 http://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.gfs.2015.11.001

- Fisher, A. (2018). Stand together or starve alone' Points to the need for food movement collaboration. *Civil Eats*. Retrieved from: https://civileats.com/2018/03/22/stand-together-or-starve-alone-points-to-the-need-for-food-movement-collaboration/
- Fitzgerald, J., & Wolak, J. (2016). The roots of trust in local government in Western Europe. *International Political Science Review*, *37*(1), 130–146. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192512114545119
- Flora, C. B., Livingston, M., Honyestewa, I., & Koiyaquaptewa, H. (2009).

 Understanding access to and use of traditional foods by Hopi women. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, *4*(2), 158–171.

 http://doi.org/10.1080/19320240902922561
- Florez, K. R., Dubowitz, T., Saito, N., & Breslau, J. (2012). Mexico-United States migration and the prevalence of obesity: A transnational perspective. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *172*(22), 1760–1762. http://doi.org/10.1001/2013.jamainternmed.77
- Gagnon, F., Turgeon, J., & Dallaire, C. (2007). Healthy public policy: A conceptual cognitive framework. *Health Policy*, 81(1), 42–55. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2006.05.012
- Garnweidner, L. M., Terragni, L., Pettersen, K. S., & Mosdøl, A. (2012). Perceptions of the host country's food culture among female immigrants from Africa and Asia:

 Aspects relevant for cultural sensitivity in nutrition communication. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 44, 335–342.

 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2011.08.005

- Gordon-Larsen, P., Harris, K. M., Ward, D. S., & Popkin, B. M. (2003). Acculturation and overweight-related behaviors among Hispanic immigrants to the US: the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 57(11), 2023-2034. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00072-8
- Gorman, K. S., Zearley, K. K., & Favasuli, S. (2011). Does acculturation matter? Food insecurity and child problem behavior among low-income, working Hispanic households. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *33*(2), 152–169. http://doi.org/10.1177/0739986311403723
- GRACE Communications Foundation. (2016). *Local & Regional Food Systems*.

 Retrieved from http://www.sustainabletable.org/254/local-regional-food-systems
- Greves-Grow, H. M., Cook, A. J., Arterburn, D. E., Saelens, B. E., & Drewnowski, A. (2010). Child obesity associated with social disadvantage of children's neighborhoods. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(3), 584–591. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.04.018
- Grin, B. M., Gayle, T. L., Saravia, D. C., & Sanders, L. M. (2013). Use of farmers markets by mothers of WIC recipients, Miami-Dade County, Florida, 2011.

 *Preventing Chronic Disease, 10, 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.120178

- Guenther, P. M., Kirkpatrick, S. I., Reedy, J., Krebs-Smith, S. M., Buckman, D. W., Dodd, K. W.,...Carroll, R. J. (2014). The healthy eating index-2010: Is a valid and reliable measure of diet quality according to the 2010 dietary guidelines for Americans. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *144*(3), 399–407. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.113.183079
- Hardesty, S., Leff, P., Baameur, A., Aguiar, J. L., Jimenez, M., Zeltser, Y., & Kaiser, L. (2015). WIC fruit and vegetable vouchers: Small farms face barriers in supplying produce. *California Agriculture*, 69(2), 98–104. http://doi.org/10.3733/ca.v069n02p98
- Hawkes, C., Jewell, J., & Allen, K. (2013). A food policy package for healthy diets and the prevention of obesity and diet-related non-communicable diseases—the nourishing framework. *Obesity Reviews*, *14*(S2), 159–168. http://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12098
- Henderson, J. A., & Hursh, D. W. (2014). Economics and education for human flourishing: Wendell Berry and the Oikonomic alternative to Neoliberalism. *Educational Studies*, 50(2), 167–186.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2014.880927
- Howarth, C., Wagnar, W., Magnusson, N., & Sammut, G. (2014). "It's only other people who make mef Black": Acculturation, identity, and agency in a multicultural community. *Political Psychology*, *35*(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12020

- Jay, M., Gutnick, D., Squires, A., Tagliaferro, B., Gerchow, L., Savarimuthu, S.,. . . .Kalet, A. (2014). In our country tortilla doesn't make us fat: Cultural factors influencing lifestyle goal-setting for overweight and obese urban, Latina patients. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 25(4), 1603–1622. http://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2014.0165
- Jensen J.F., Petersen M. H., Larsen T. B., Jørgensen D. G., Grønbæk H. N., & Midtgaard J. (2014) Young adult women's experiences of body image after bariatric surgery:

 A descriptive phenomenological study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(5), 1138–1149. doi: 10.1111/jan.12275
- Jiao, J., Moudon, A. V., Ulmer, J., Hurvitz, P. M., & Drewnowski, A. (2012). How to identify food deserts: Measuring physical and economic access to supermarkets in King County, Washington. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(10), 32–39. http://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2012.300675
- Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health: Center for a Livable Future (2015).

 Putting federal policies to work—The role of federal and state FPCS [Webinar].

 Retrieved from: http://www.foodpolicynetworks.org/food-policy-resources/
- Johnson, D. B., Cheadle, A., Podrabsky, M., Quinn, E., MacDougall, E., Cechovic, K., ...
 Allen, D. (2013). Advancing nutrition and obesity policy through cross-sector collaboration: The local farms: Healthy kids initiative in Washington State.
 Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition, 8(2), 171–186.
 http://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2012.761575

- Johnson, D. B., Payne, E. C., McNeese, M. A., & Allen, D. (2012). Menu-labeling policy in King County, Washington. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(3), S130–S135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.05.014
- Kaushal, N., Waldfogel, J., & Wight, V. R. (2013). Food insecurity and SNAP participation in Mexican immigrant families: The impact of the outreach initiative. *The B. E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, *14*(1), 203–240. http://doi.org/doi.org/doi.10.1515/bejeap-2013-0083
- Kilanowski, J. F. (2012). Patterns and correlates of nutrition among migrant farm-worker children. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *34*(3), 396–416. http://doi.org/10.1177/0193945910381597
- Larson, C., Haushalter, A., Buck, T., Campbell, D., Henderson, T., & Schlundt, D.

 (2013). Development of a community-sensitive strategy to increase availability of fresh fruits and vegetables in Nashville's urban food deserts, 2010–2012.

 **Preventing Chronic Disease*, 10(130008)*, 1–12.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.130008
- Leach, J. (2012, June). Wendell Berry, landsman. *Humanities*, 33(3), 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.neh.gov/humanities/back-issues/vol33/issue3
- Leonard, T., McKillop, C., Carson, J. A., & Shuval, K. (2014). Neighborhood effects on food consumption. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 51, 99– 113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2014.04.002

- Lesley, B. (2016). The racial generation gap and the future for our children.

 Washington, DC: First Focus. Retrieved from

 https://firstfocus.org/resources/report/the-racial-generation-gap-and-the-future-for-our-children/
- Leung, C. W., Hoffnagle, E. E., Lindsay, A. C., Lofink, H. E., Hoffman, V. A., Turrell, S.,... Blumenthal, S. J. (2013). A qualitative study of diverse experts' views about barriers and strategies to improve the diets and health of supplemental nutrition assistance program (SNAP) beneficiaries. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 113(1), 70–76. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2012.09.018
- Li, K., Wen, M., & Henry, K. A. (2014). Residential racial composition and Black-White obesity risks: Differential effects of neighborhood social and built environment.

 *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(1), 626–642. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110100626
- Lichter, D. T. (2012). Immigration and the new racial diversity in rural America. *Rural Sociology*, 77(1), 3–35. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1549-0831.2012.00070.x
- Lichtman, M. (2014). *Qualitative research for the social sciences*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lin, A. R., Simpkins, S. D., Gaskins, E. R., & Menjivar, C. (2016). Cultural values and other perceived benefits of organized activities: A qualitative analysis of Mexican-origin parents' perspectives in Arizona. *Applied Developmental Science*, 22(2), 89–109. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2016.1224669

- Macdiarmid, J. I., Loe, J., Kyle, J., & McNeill, G. (2013). It was an education in portion size: Experience of eating a healthy diet and barriers to long-term dietary change.

 Appetite, 71, 411–419. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.09.012
- Malik, V. S., Willett, W. C., & Hu, F. B. (2013). Global obesity: Trends, risk factors and policy implications. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 9(1), 13–27. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.199
- Marsiglia, F. F., Booth, J. M., Baldwin, A., & Ayers, S. (2013). Acculturation and life satisfaction among immigrant Mexican adults. *Advances in Social Work*, *14*(1), 49–64. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3881437/
- Masse, F. (2015, November 13). Fat city: The obesity crisis that threatens to overwhelm Mexico's capital. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2015/nov/13/fat-city-obesity-crisis-mexico-capital-sugar-tax
- Maxwell, J. A. (2014). *A qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A.M., & Saldana, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A Methods sourcebook* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publication.
- Miller, G. D., Drewnowski, A., Fulgoni, V., Heaney, R. P., King, J., & Kennedy, E. (2009). It is time for a positive approach to dietary guidance using nutrient density

- as a basic principle. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *139*(6), 1198–1202. http://doi.org/doi:10.3945/jn.108.100842
- Mockshell, J., & Birner, R. (2015). Donors and domestic policy makers: Two worlds in agricultural policy-making? *Food Policy*, *55*, 1–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2015.05.004
- Monsivais, P., Aggarwal, A, & Drewnowski, A. (2011, August). Following federal guidelines to increase nutrient consumption may lead to higher food costs for consumers. *Health Affairs*, *30*(8), 1471–1477. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.1273
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- National Research Council. (2006). Food insecurity and hunger in the United States: An assessment of the measure. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Nagler, R. H. (2015). Adverse outcomes associated with media exposure to contradictory nutrition messages. *Journal of Health Communication International Perspectives*, 19(1), 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2013.798384
- Nau, C., Schwartz, B. S., Bandeen-Roche, K., Liu, A., Pollak, J., Hirsch, A.,...Glass, T. A. (2015), Community socioeconomic deprivation and obesity trajectories in children using electronic health records. *Obesity*, 23, 207–212. doi:10.1002/oby.20903
- Negarandeh, R., Mahmoodi, H., Noktehdan, H., Heshmat, R., & Shakibazadeh, E.

 (2013). Teach back and pictorial image educational strategies on knowledge about diabetes and medication/dietary adherence among low health literate patients with

- type 2 diabetes. *Primary Care Diabetes*, 7(2), 111–118. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2012.11.001
- Nielsen, L. (2013). Shared residential custody: Review of the research (Part I of II).

 *American Journal of Family Law, 27, 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcre.12086
- Nestle, M., Wing, R., Birch, L., DiSogra, L., Drewnowski, A., Middleton, S., ...

 Economos, C. (1998). Behavioral and social influences on food choice. *Nutrition Reviews*, *56*(5), S50–S74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.1998.tb01732.x
- Nixon, R. (2015, February 20). Obama proposes single overseer for food safety. *New York Times*. Retrieved from: http://www.nytimes.com/2015/02/21/us/obama-proposes-single-overseer-for-food-safety.html?_r=0
- Nunez-McHiri, G.G., Riviera, D., & Marrufo, C. (2017). Portraits of food insecurity in colonias in the U.S.-Mexico border region. In C.G. Vélez-Ibáñez & J. Heyman (Eds.), *The U.S.-Mexico Transborder Region: Cultural Dynamics and Historical Interactions* (pp. 342-369). Tucson: University of Arizona Press.
- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Fryar, C. D., & Flegal, K. M. (2015, November).

 *Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2011–2014. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from
 https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db219.pdf
- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Flegal, K. (2014). Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 318(8), 806–814. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.732

- Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development [OECD](2010), *Higher Education in Regional and City Development: Paso del Norte, Mexico and the United States 2010*, OECD Publishing, Paris.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264088887-en
- Ortega, A.N., Albert, S.T., Sharif, M.Z., Langellier, B.A, Garcia, R.E., Glik, D.C.,...Prelip, M.L. (2015). Proyecto MercadoFresco: A multi-level, community-engaged corner store intervention in East Los Angeles and Boyle Heights. *Journal of Community Health* 40(2), 347-356. https://doi.org./10.1007/s10900-014-9941-8
- O'Sullivan, E., Rassel, G. R., & Berner, M. (2008). *Research methods for public administrators* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson, Longman.
- Otilingam, P. G., Gatz, M., Tello, E., Escobar, A. J., Goldstein, A., Torres, M., & Varma, R. (2015). Buenos hábitos alimenticios para una buena salud: Evaluation of a nutrition education program to improve heart health and brain health in Latinas.

 Journal of Aging and Health, 27(1), 177–192.

 http://doi.org/10.1177/089826431454966
- P. Long. (2013, February 11). The patient is in: Listening to low-income Californians. [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2013/02/11/the-patient-is-in-listening-to-low-income-californians/
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Perez, A. (2014). Acculturation, health literacy, and illness perceptions of hypertension among Hispanic adults. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 26(4), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1177/1043659614524785
- Rainey, H. G., & Weaver, R. K. (2015). Getting people to behave: Research lessons for policy makers. *Public Administration Review*, 75(6), 806–816. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12412
- Rashad, H., & Khadr, Z. (2014). Measurement of health equity as a driver for impacting policies. *Health Promotion International*, *29*(S1), i69–i82. http://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dau045
- Ree, M., Riediger, N., & Moghadasian, M. H. (2008). Factors affecting food selection in Canadian population. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 62, 1255-1262. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602863
- Reel, J.J. & Badger, B.K. (2014). From food deserts to food swamps: Health education strategies to improve food environments in urban areas. Journal of Obesity & Weight Loss Therapy, \$4:002. doi:10.4172/2165-7904.\$4-002
- Reiss, K., Lehnhardt, J., & Razum, O. (2015). Factors associated with smoking in immigrants from non-western to western countries-what role does acculturation play? A systemic review. *Tobacco Induced Diseases*, 13(11), 1-30. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12971-015-0036-9
- Ripberger, J. T., Gupta, K., Silva, C. L., & Jenkins-Smith, H. C. (2014). Cultural theory and the measurement of deep core beliefs within the advocacy coalition

- framework. *The Policy Studies Journal*, 42(4), 509–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12074
- Roberson, L., Aneni, E.E., Maziak, W., Agatson, A., Feldman, T., Rouseff, M.,...Nasir, K. (2014). Beyond BMI: The "metabolically healthy obese" phenotype & its association with clinical/subclinical cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality—a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 14 (14), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-14
- Roshania, N. (2016, January 22). A cooking class where new immigrants learn the recipe for English. *NPR: The Salt*, 1–6. Washington, DC.
- Roulston, K. (2010). *Reflective interviewing: A guide to theory & practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ruhlman, M. (2016, January 17). No food is healthy. Not even kale. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/food/no-food-is-healthy-not-even-kale/2016/01/15/4a5c2d24-ba52-11e5-829c-26ffb874a18d_story.html
- Sabatier, P. A., & Jenkins-Smith, H., (1993). *Policy change and learning: An advocacy coalition approach*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Sabatier, P. A., & Weible, C. M. (Eds.). (2014). *Theories of the policy process* (3rd ed.). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

- Sakamoto, I., Wei, Y., & Truong, L. (2008). How do organizations and social policies "acculturate" to immigrants? Accommodating skilled immigrants in Canada. *American Journal of Psychology*, 42, 343–354. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-008-9197-5
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Samek, A. (2016). Gifts and goals: Behavioral nudges to improve child food choice at school. *JEL Classifications*, *C72*, *C91*, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2729579
- Sanou, D., O'Reilly, E., Ngnie-Teta, I., Batal, M., Mondain, N., Andrew, C., ...

 Bourgeault, I. L. (2014). Acculturation and nutritional health of immigrants in

 Canada: A scoping review. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *16*(1), 24–34. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9823-7
- Satia, J. A. (2010). Dietary acculturation and the nutrition transition: An overview. .

 *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. 35, 219-223.

 http://doi.org/10.1139/H10-007
- Satia-Abouta, J., Patterson, R. E., Neuhouser, M. L., & Elder, J. (2002). Dietary acculturation: Applications to nutrition research and dietetics. *The American Dietetic Association*, *102*(8), 1105–1118.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(02)90247-6
- Scheidt, D. M., & Daniel, E. (2004, January/February). Composite index for aggregating nutrient density using food labels: Ratio of recommended to restricted food

- components. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *36*(1), 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1499-4046(06)60126-7
- Schwartz, S. J., Montgomery, M. J., & Briones, E. (2006). The role of identity in acculturation among immigrant people: Theoretical propositions, empirical questions, and applied recommendations. *Human Development*, *49*(1), 1–30. http://doi.org/10.1159/000090300
- Shafritz, J. M., Ott, J. S., & Jang, Y. S. (Eds.). (2016). *Classics of organization theory* (8th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadworth Cengage Learning.
- Shanahan, E. A., Jones, M. D., McBeth, M. K., & Lane, R. R. (2013). An angel on the wind: How heroic policy narratives shape policy realities. *The Policy Studies Journal*, *41*(3), 453–483. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12025
- Sloan, A., & Bowe, B. (2014). Phenomenology and hermeneutic phenomenology: The philosophy, the methodologies and using hermeneutic phenomenology to investigate lecturers' experiences of curriculum design. *Quality & Quantity*, 48(3), 1291-1303. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9835-3
- Stewart, D., Kennedy, A., & Pavel, A. (2014). Beyond nutrition and agriculture policy:

 Collaborating for a food policy. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *112*(S2), S65–S74.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S000711451400230X
- Taylor, S. A., Garland, B. H., Sanchez-Fournier, B. E., Allen, K. F., Doak, J. S., & Wiemann, C. W. (2013). A qualitative study of the day-to-day lives of obese
 Mexican-American adolescent females. *Pediatrics*, *131*(6), 1132–1138.
 http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-2114

- Telzer, E. H., Tsai, K. M., Gonzales, N., & Fuligni, A. J. (2015). Mexican American adolescents' family obligation values and behaviors: Links to internalizing symptoms across time and context. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(1), 75–86. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038434
- Texas State Comptroller's Office [TSCO] (2015). Port of entry: El Paso. Retrieved from: file:///Users/riumanm/Downloads/el-paso.pdf
- Texas State Department of Health Services [TexasDSHS] (2016). *Health services regions* 9 & 10. Retrieved from: http://www.dshs.texas.gov/region9-10/
- Tunon-Pablos, E., & Dreby, J. (2016). Risk factors for overweight and obesity among Mexican children in New York. *International Journal of Population Research*, 2016, 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2016/2420167
- Union of Concerned Scientists [UCS]. (2016a). Fixing food: Fresh solutions from five

 U.S. cities [Case studies]. Washington, DC: Union of Concerned Scientists.

 Retrieved from www.ucsusa.org/fixingfood
- Union of Concerned Scientists [UCS]. (2016b). *The devastating consequences of unequal food access* (Policy Brief). Retrieved from http://www.ucsusa.org/foodagriculture/expand-healthy-food-access/unequal-food-access-race-incomediabetes#.V4BEgjflbMM
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], (2010a). *Dietary guidelines for Americans*.

 Retrieved from: http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/

- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA], (2010b). *Reaching low-income Hispanics with nutrition assistance*. Retrieved from: http://www.fns.usda.gov/reaching-low-income-hispanics-nutrition-assistance
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA]. (2013). Supplemental Assistance Nutrition

 Program. Retrieved from: http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/supplemental-nutritionassistance-program-snap
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA]. (2016a). *Dietary guidelines for Americans:*2015-2020 (8th edition). Retrieved from: http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/
- U.S. Department of Agriculture [USDA]. (2016b). USDA Boosts Healthy Food Access, Sets New Standards for SNAP Retailers. Retrieved from: https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2016/12/08/usda-boosts-healthy-food-access-sets-new-standards-snap-retailers
- U.S. Department of Commerce (2014). Canutillo CDP quickfacts from the US census bureau. *United States Census Bureau*. Accessed from: http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/48/4812508.html
- U.S Department of Commerce (2016). Hispanic heritage month. *Profile America For Features: CB16-FF.16 October 12*. Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/newsroom/facts-for-features/2016/cb16-ff16.html
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2017). FDA Broadens Its Vocabulary. Retrieved from: https://www.fda.gov/ForConsumers/ConsumerUpdates/ucm393117.htm
- U.S. Government Printing Office. (2015, November 12). Use of the term "Natural" in the labeling of human food products. *Federal Register*, 69905–69907.

- Van Rompay, M. I., McKeown, N. M., Castaneda-Sceppa, C., Falcon, L. M., Ordovas, J. M., & Tucker, K. L. (2012). Acculturation and sociocultural influences on dietary intake and health status among Puerto Rican adults in Massachusetts. *The Journal of Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 112(1), 64–74.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.049
- Verstraeten, R., Van Royen, K., Ochoa-Aviles, A., Penafiel, D., Holdsworth, M., Donoso, S., ... Kolsteren, P. (2014). A conceptual framework for healthy eating behavior in Ecuadorian adolescents: A qualitative study. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e87183. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087183
- Von Essen, E., & Englander, M. (2013). Organic food as a healthy lifestyle-A phenomenological psychological analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 8, 20559. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v8i0.20559
- Walden University Center for Research Quality. (n.d.) Research center home page.

 Retrieved http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/resources/planning

 Waterlander, W.E., Steenhuis, I., de Boer, M.R., Schuit, A.J., & Seidell, J.C. (2012). The effects of a 25% discount on fruits and vegetables: Results of a randomized trial in a three-dimensional web-based supermarket. International Journal of

 Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-11

- Weible, C., & Sabatier, P. A. (2007). A guide to the Advocacy Coalition Framework. In Handbook of Public Policy Analysis: Theory, Politics, and Methods (pp. 123–136). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Weible C., Sabatier P., & Flowers, J. (2008) *Encyclopedia of public administration and public policy*. London. U.K.: Taylor & Francis.
- Zimmerman, F. J., & Shimoga, S. V. (2014). The effects of food advertising and cognitive load on food choices. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(342), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-342
- Zoellner, J., You, W., Connell, C., Smith-Ray, R. L., Allen, K., Tucker, K. L., ...

 Estabrooks, P. (2011). Health literacy is associated with healthy eating index scores and sugar-sweetened beverage intake: Findings from the rural lower Mississippi delta. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 111(7), 1012–1020. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.201

Appendix A: Interview Question Guide

I. Part 1 – Introduction (10 minutes)

A. Thank participant for taking time to attend

1. Introduction of researcher

B. Interview Objectives

- 1. Learn how consumers of Mexican decent make decisions about their food choices
 - 2. Learn what ways consumers of Mexican decent access food
 - 3. Learn if or how consumers of Mexican decent use consumer food education information to make food choices?

C. Explanations

- 1. Length of interview 45 minutes (1 hour including introduction and conclusion)
 - 2. Confidentiality of participants
 - 3. Free to leave at any time
 - 4. No "wrong" answers; all input is important to the study
 - 5. Questions?

II. Part 2 – Questions (45 minutes)

A. Overall question

- 1. What can you tell me about your decision-making process about food choice?
- 2. How do you use consumer food education information to make decisions about what food you buy?

B. Levels of Questions to Ask Participants

Topics	Main Question	Follow-up	Probes	
_		Questions		
Knowledge	Tell me about the knowledge you have that you use when you decide what food to eat?	Do you understand what healthy foods are? Where did you gain this knowledge? Family? Friends? School? Internet?	What else do you recall learning that you think makes a difference in choosing the food you eat?	
	Describe your			
	typical meal plan	Do you usually	Do you remember	
	(breakfast, lunch,	prepare meals or do	when you learned	

	T \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \		
	dinner)?	you purchase meals?	about nutrition? If so, who or what taught you most about eating healthy foods?
Source of Information	What influences your food choices?	What specific sources of information do you use to decide what food to eat? Family? Friends? School? Doctors? Internet? TV?	Explain more about the sources of information of food you just mentioned (e.g. What about family? What about friends?) What influences you the most?
			Almost all of us have knowledge in our heads that tells us what we should eat to be healthy, when you choose unhealthy food, what prevents you from following this knowledge?
			What would friends have to do to influence you to eat healthier foods?
	Do you use outside information (ie: USDA, nutrition labels, etc.) to help you make food decision?	Where have you received food and nutrition information in the past?	What would your family have to do to influence you to eat healthier foods?
Experience	What factors determine the variety of food that you eat (Ex. cost, taste, habit, health)?	Describe how you use ideas on food and nutrition in daily life?	How have you used information on food and nutrition in the past?

	How do your cultural values and traditions impact your food choices?	Does your culture (or traditions of your culture impact how you use food	
		and nutrition in your daily life?	
Opinion	What is your opinion on the food and nutrition information that you have received?	Do you think that your culture and its traditions are considered in the information that you receive?	What is your opinion on making healthy food choices in the future?

III. Part 3 – Conclusion (5 minutes)

- A. Thank participant for their time
- B. Ask participant if they have any questions about the interview session and answer them.
- C. Distribute \$15 Walmart cards and give participant researcher's cell phone number for follow-up.
- D. Remind participant to contact researcher with any questions post-interview.

Apéndice B: Guía de Preguntas de la Entrevista

- I. Parte 1 Introducción (10 minutos)
- A. Agradecimiento al participante por tomarse el tiempo de asistir
 - 1. Introducción del investigador
- B. Objetivos de la entrevista
 - 1. Aprender como los consumidores de descendientes de Mexicanos toman decisiones sobre sus opciones de alimentos
 - 2. Aprender de que maneras los descendientes de Mexicanos tienen acceso a sus alimentos
 - 3. Aprender si, o como, los consumidores de descendientes Mexicanos usan la información de educación alimenticia para hacer las elecciones de alimentos
- C. Explicaciones
 - 1. Duración de la entrevista 45 minutos (1 hora incluyendo introducción y conclusión)
 - 2. Confidencialidad del participante
 - 3. Libertad para retirarse en cualquier momento
- 4. No hay respuestas "equivocadas"; todas las opiniones son importantes para el estudio
 - 5. ¿Preguntas?
- II. Parte 2 Pre-Selección y Preguntas Demográficas (5 minutos)
- III. Parte 3 Preguntas (40 minutos)
 - A. Preguntas generales
 - 1. ¿Qué puede usted decirme acerca del proceso de la toma de decisiones sobre sus alimentos?
 - 2. ¿Cómo utiliza la información sobre educación alimenticia del consumidor para tomar la decisión sobre que alimentos comprar?
 - B. Niveles de las preguntas para los participantes

Temas	Preguntas principales	Preguntas de seguimiento	Preguntas Adicionales
Conocimiento	¿Cuénteme como usa lo que sabe cuando decide que alimentos comer?	¿Entiende lo que son los alimentos saludables? ¿Donde aprendió esto? ¿Familia? ¿Amigos? ¿Escuela? ¿Internet?	¿Qué mas recuerda haber aprendido que piensa ha hecho la diferencia para escoger los alimentos que come?

	¿Describa su plan típico de comidas (desayuno, comida, cena)?	¿Usualmente prepara sus comidas, o compra sus comidas?	¿Recuerda cuando aprendió sobre nutrición? Si es así, que o quien le enseño más acerca de comer alimentos saludables?
Fuente de información	¿Qué influye en sus opciones de alimentos?	¿Qué fuentes de información especificas usa para decidir que alimentos comer? ¿Familia? ¿Amigos? ¿Escuela?¿Doctores? ¿Internet? ¿Televisión?	¿Explique un poco más sobre las fuentes de información de alimentos que acaba de mencionar (p. ej. ¿De la familia?, ¿De los amigos?) ¿Quien lo influencia más? Casi todos tenemos conocimiento en nuestra cabeza que nos dice que debemos comer para estar saludables, cuando elije comida no saludable, que lo detiene para seguir este conocimiento?
¿Usa información externa (p. ej. USDA, etiquetas de nutrición, etc.) para ayudarlo a tomar decisiones sobre alimentos?		¿De dónde ha recibido información sobre alimentos y nutrición en el pasado?	¿Qué tendrían que hacer sus amigos para influenciarlo a comer alimentos saludables? ¿Qué tendría que hacer su familia para influenciarlo a comer alimentos saludables?

Experiencia	¿Qué factores determinan la variedad de alimentos que usted come (p. ej. Costo, sabor, hábitos, salud)?	Describa como utiliza las ideas sobre alimentos y nutrición en la vida cotidiana	¿Cómo ha utilizado la información sobre alimentos y nutrición en el pasado?
Opinión	¿Cómo sus valores culturales y tradiciones impactan sus opciones de alimentos?	¿Su cultura o tradiciones de su cultura influyen en como usted utiliza el alimento y la nutrición en su vida diaria?	
	¿Cuál es su opinión sobre la información de alimentos y nutrición que ha recibido?	¿Piensa que su cultura y sus tradiciones están consideradas en la información que recibe?	¿Cuál es su opinión para tomar decisiones de alimentos saludables en el futuro?

IV. Parte 4 – Conclusión (5 minutos)

- A. Agradecimiento al participante por su tiempo.
- B. Preguntar al participante si tiene preguntas de la entrevista y responderlas.
- C. Distribuir las tarjetas de regalo para Wal-Mart y dar el número telefónico del investigador para el seguimiento.
- D. Recordar al participante de contactar al investigador en caso de haber alguna pregunta después de la entrevista.

Appendix C: Pre-Screen & Demographic Questions

Demographic Information

1. What year were you born?	19	_			
2. Who makes the primary de household?				ourchase —	e and consume in your
3. Who prepares the food tha	t is consumed i	n your l	nome?		
4. Where were you born?	United States		or		Mexico
5. Have you visited Mexico					
within the last 30 d	ays	YES		NO	
within the last 60 d	within the last 60 days			NO	
within the last 90 d	within the last 90 days			NO	
within the last 180	days	YES		NO	
6. Do you speak English?	YES		or		NO
7. Do you speak Spanish? YES			or		NO
8. What language do you prin	narily speak wl	nen you	are at l	nome?	
9. Does anyone else live in ye	our household?		YES		NO
(If yes) How many? (If yes) What is the ag (If yes) What is the ag		-			

Appendix D: Pre-Selección y Preguntas Demográficas

Información Demográfica

1.	¿En qué año nació	? 19	_			
2.	¿Quién toma las d consumir en su ho				-	omprar y
3.	¿Quien prepara lo	os alimentos que	se cons	sumen e	n su hogar?	
4.	¿Donde nació?	Estados Unido	S	o	México	
5.	¿Cuánto tiempo te ser acumulado)	quedaste en Mé	xico er	ı el últir	no año? (el tiemp	oo total puede
	Menos de tres sem Entre 3 semanas y Entre 6 semanas y Entre 11 semanas Más de 16 semana	5 semanas 10 semanas y 16 semanas		SI SI SI SI SI	NO NO NO NO	
6.	¿Habla Ingles?	SI	o		NO	
7.	¿Habla Español?	SI	o		NO	
8.	¿Qué idioma habla	a principalmente	cuand	o está er	ı casa?	
9.	¿Alguien más vive	e en su hogar?	SI		NO	
	(Si es así)	¿Cuántas person ¿Cuál es la edad ¿Cuál es la edad	l de la j			-